# **Intrathecal Immune Responses in**

# **Stiff Person Syndrome and Multiple Sclerosis**

\_\_\_\_\_

Doctoral thesis by

Gjertrud Skorstad



Department of Neurology, Faculty Division Ullevål University Hospital

University of Oslo, and

Institute of Immunology, Faculty Division Rikshospitalet, University of Oslo

#### © Gjertrud Skorstad, 2010

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 947

ISBN 978-82-8072-594-3

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AiT e-dit AS.

Produced in co-operation with Unipub.

The thesis is produced by Unipub merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

#### Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis was performed at The Department of Neurology, Ullevål University

Hospital and The Institute of Immunology, University of Oslo in Norway during the period 2005 to 2009. I

would like to express my gratitude for the financial support I have received from The Department of Neurology,

Ullevål University Hospital, and I am especially indebted to Elisabeth G. Celius who believed in me and gave

me the opportunity to explore the immunology of SPS. I will also thank the Institute of Immunology for

providing excellent working facilities and research environment.

First of all I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor, Trygve Holmøy for giving me the opportunity to explore the interesting field of T cell immunology. His knowledge in the field of MS and SPS has been invaluable and motivating during these years. I have greatly appreciated his constant availability, and rapid feedback, particularly on written work which has been impressive. I also thank my co-supervisor Frode Vartdal. His immense knowledge in the field of immunology has been stimulatory to me. I am also grateful for your enthusiasm and optimism, and I thank him for encouraging me to work independently. I am also indebted to Bodvar Vandvik, a very generous person, who was always available for the great scientific discussion. His enthusiasm in neuroimmunology has been a constant inspiration to me.

A special thanks goes to my dear colleague Anne Lise K. Hestvik. Her immense knowledge in MS immunology and oratory talent has been inspiring. Her encouragement through all these years and her constant belief in me has been invaluable, but most of all I have appreciated her warm friendship.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my B cell collaborator, Anders Fallang. His sharing of excellent academic skills and enthusiasm in the field of B cell immunology has been really inspiring. I am deeply grateful for all the time he has spent guiding me through the work with B cells and excellent scientific guidance. A warm thanks goes to my dear colleague, Luka Mesin, for generously sharing his vast knowledge in scientific writing and for stimulating scientific discussions. I appreciate his friendship and for always being there through the ups and downs. Kirsti Alvik has done a fantastic job in recruiting SPS patients, a special thanks for her warm support and friendship during these years. Also, my warm appreciation goes to Peter Torjesen for helping me out with quantification and avidity analysis of GAD65 antibodies and to everyone who has helped me out by typing HLA.

Finally, I would like to thank all my great colleagues at IMMI. Thank you for all your advice, helpful and

stimulating discussions, but most of all your friendship throughout these years.

Last, a standing ovation goes to my dear family and friends. Thank you for all your patience and support

during this "ride". A special thank you goes to my nephew Oliver who always meets me with his wonderful

smile each time I pick him up from school and take him to the Pannekakehuset and Dissmilis.

Gjertrud Skorstad

Oslo, 2009

4

# **Table of Contents**

List of abbreviations	7
Papers included in the thesis:	9
Papers related to the thesis:	10
Basic concepts in immunology	11
The adaptive immune response	12
Self - tolerance mechanisms	12
T cell immunity	13
The MHC complex	14
The genes in the MHC complex	14
The MHC molecules	14
Presentation of T cell epitopes	15
T cell activation and their effector functions	16
B cell immunity	17
Immunoglobulin structure	20
Autoimmunity	21
Immune surveillance of the central nervous system	23
Stiff Person Syndrome	26
Historical background	26
Clinical presentation	26
Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase	28
GAD65 IgG antibodies and GAD65-specific T cells in SPS	28
Other aspects of autoimmunity in SPS	30
Multiple Sclerosis	32
Intrathecal B cell responses in MS	33
Intrathecal humoral immune responses against microorganisms in MS	33
Aims of the study	35
Summary of the papers	37
Methodological considerations	39
Patients, sample collection and ethical considerations	39
Patients	39

Sample collection	40
Ethical considerations	40
Antigens	41
Microbial antigens	41
GAD65 protein and GAD65 peptides	41
Recombinant human GAD65	41
GAD65 peptides	42
Searching for GAD65-specific T cells in SPS patients	43
T cell proliferation assays and analysis of cytokine production	45
B cell culture	46
Detection of IgG and IgG antibodies	46
Quantification of GAD65 IgG by radioimmunoassay	46
Qualitative analysis of IgG and IgG antibodies	47
Avidity and binding capacity of GAD65 IgG antibodies	48
General discussion	50
The relevance of CSF lymphocytes in the studies of MS and SPS	50
Autoimmunity to GAD65 in SPS	53
The synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies	53
GAD65 as an autoantigen	55
Breaking tolerance to GAD65	56
Antibody secreting cells of the intrathecally synthesised virus-specific IgG antibodies i and GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS	
Future perspectives	61
Human monoclonal GAD65 IgG antibodies from SPS patients	61
D.C.	

# List of abbreviations

ALCAM activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule

APC antigen presenting cell

BAFF B cell activating factor

BBB blood-brain barrier

BCR B cell receptor

Bmax binding capacity

CIS clinically isolated syndrome

CCL / CXCL chemokine ligand

CCR / CXCR chemokine receptor

CD cluster of differentiation

CNS central nervous system

CSF cerebrospinal fluid

D diversity

DC dendritic cell

DMSO dimethyl sulfoxide

EAE experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

Escherichia coli

EBV Epstein Barr virus

E. coli

GA glatiramer acetate

GABA γ-aminobutyric acid

GAD glutamic acid decarboxylase

GC germinal centre

HLA human leukocyte antigen

HSV-1 Herpes Simplex virus type-1

ICAM / VCAM intracellular adhesion molecule / vascular cell adhesion molecule

IEF isoelectric focusing

IFN interferon

Ig immunoglobulin

ILinterleukin

J joining

kDa kilo Dalton

MeV Measles virus

MHC major histocompatibility complex

MMP matrix metalloproteinase

MS multiple sclerosis

NLR nucleotide oligomerisation domain-like-receptor

NOD non-obese diabetic **OCBs** oligoclonal bands

PBMC

peripheral blood mononuclear cell

PER progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity

PPH post puncture headache

rheumatoid arthritis RArh recombinant human

RIA radioimmunoassay

SLE systemic lupus erythematosus

SPS stiff person syndrome

T1D type 1 diabetes

TCR T cell receptor

TGF transforming growth factor

T-helper  $T_{\rm H}$ 

TLR Toll-like receptor

TNF tumour necrosis factor

variable

VGKC voltage-gated potassium channel

VZV Varizella Zoster virus

# Papers included in the thesis:

# Paper I

Skorstad G, Vandvik B, Vartdal F and Holmøy T. MS and clinically isolated syndromes: Shared specificity but diverging clonal patterns of virus-specific IgG antibodies produced in vivo and by CSF B cells in vitro. European Journal of Neurology 2009; 16: 1124-1129.

# Paper II

Skorstad G, Hestvik AL, Torjesen P, Alvik K, Vartdal F, Vandvik B and Holmøy T. GAD65 IgG autoantibodies in stiff person syndrome: clonality, avidity and persistence. European Journal of Neurology 2008; 15: 973-80.

# Paper III

Skorstad G, Hestvik AL, Vartdal F and Holmøy T. Cerebrospinal fluid T cell responses against glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 in patients with stiff person syndrome. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 2008; 32: 24-32.

# Papers related to the thesis:

Holmøy T, *Skorstad G*, Røste LS, Scheie D and Alvik K. Stiff person syndrome associated with lower motor neuron disease and infiltration of cytotoxic T cells in the spinal cord. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery* 2009; 111: 708-712.

Hestvik AL, *Skorstad G*, Price DA, Vartdal F and Holmøy T. Multiple sclerosis: glatiramer acetate induces anti-inflammatory T cells in the cerebrospinal fluid. *Multiple Sclerosis* 2008; 14: 749-758.

#### Basic concepts in immunology

The immune system has evolved to recognise and combat infectious agents. This is accomplished through the immune system's ability to distinguish between self and non-self. The protection is achieved through the highly coordinated action of the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system (Murphy 2008).

The *innate* branch of the immune system is the first line of defence against microbial agents. Receptors on the innate arm of the immune system are evolutionary conserved germline-encoded proteins which include Toll-like receptors (TLR) and nucleotide oligomerisation domain-like-receptors (NLR). TLRs which are receptors localised either at the cell surface or within endosomes, recognise a bewildering range of conserved microbial structures, such as bacterial cell wall components, lipoproteins, highly conserved microbial proteins, and bacterial and viral nucleic acids, often referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns or danger-associated molecular patterns (Janeway 2002; Kawai & Akira 2005). By contrast, the NLRs are a family of intracellular sensors that in addition to detect conserved microbial structures also sense "danger signals". These molecules alert the immune system upon recognition of dangerous environmental events, maybe independently of a microbial trigger (Fritz 2006). These relatively non-specific receptors are expressed on a variety of innate immune cells such as granulocytes, dendritic cells (DC), macrophages and natural killer cells. The innate immune system responds rapidly (within few hours) after onset of an infection, compared to days required for the mobilisation of the adaptive immune system.

Adaptive immunity, also known as acquired immunity, is the specific response of lymphocytes to an antigen, including the development of immunological memory.

Immunological memory is known to persist for a lifetime and therefore carry the "history of the individual's adaptive immune responses" (Crotty 2003; Amanna 2007). The adaptive immune response is generated by clonal selection and expansion of lymphocytes. The key players within the adaptive immunity are T cells, B cells, and professional antigen presenting cells (APC) including DCs, macrophages and B cells. The professional APCs are important in connecting the innate and the adaptive arm of the immune system by integrating innate information and conveying it to the T and B lymphocytes.

#### The adaptive immune response

#### **Self - tolerance mechanisms**

Our immune system is the body's sixth sense (Goodnow 2005). The mammalian immune system has an extraordinary capability for generating a huge receptor diversity that can mount a response to almost any chemical structure entering the body. The receptors that are involved in this "great deed" are the T cell receptors (TCR) displayed on T cells and the immunoglobulin (Ig) expressed on the surface of B cells as B cell receptors (BCR). Virtually unlimited receptor diversity can be generated in mammals by the process of variable (V), diversity (D), joining (J) V(D)J recombination that occur selectively in lymphocytes. During T- and B- cell differentiation which takes place in the central lymphoid tissues, three separate gene segments, the V, D and J are assembled by V(D)J recombination into unique TCR and BCR genes. Random addition and deletion of nucleotides at the junctions between gene segments further contribute to the diversity of the third hypervariable region. During the late phase of the immune response in the peripheral lymphoid tissues, somatic hypermutation

substitutes single nucleotides of BCR genes leading to the production of high-affinity antibodies (Goodnow 2005; Murphy 2008).

Between 20 and 50 % of TCRs and BCRs generated by V(D)J recombination bind to self antigens (Zerrahn 1997; Wardemann 2003). However, the immune system has developed several checkpoints to prevent self-antigens from triggering self-reactive B and T lymphocytes. The cellular strategies engaged to deal with self-reactive receptors include: 1) clonal deletion; a cell bearing a "forbidden" receptor can be triggered to die according to Burnet's concept of clonal selection, 2) receptor edition; further V(D)J recombination or somatic hypermutation of the aberrant receptor giving rise to a new receptor that is not self reactive, 3) "clonal anergy or tuning"; changes in gene expression can reduce the ability of the cell to be triggered by self-reactive receptors, and 4) extrinsic control mechanisms that limit the supply of essential growth factors, co-stimuli and other necessary factors including suppression by regulatory T cells or regulatory B cells (Burnet 1961; Kronenberg & Rudensky 2005; Fillatreau 2002; Hu 2007). The result of these processes is that most lymphocytes expressing self-reactive receptors dangerous for the host are eliminated.

### T cell immunity

Progenitor T cells migrate from bone marrow to the thymus where further maturation and selection processes occur. Within the cortical and medullar compartments of the thymus, T cells undergo positive and negative selection driven by the interactions with thymic epithelial cells that display composites of self peptides and major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) molecules on their cell-surface (Starr 2003). T cells are divided into two major subsets identified by the expression of the unique functional cluster of differentiation (CD) surface

molecules, denoted CD4 and CD8. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells recognise peptides presented on MHC class II, whereas CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognise peptides presented by MHC class I.

Mature T cells leaving the thymus to enter the circulation are termed naïve. They circulate in the lymphatic system, through secondary lymphoid organs where they can interact with APCs, in principal DCs, but also macrophages and B cells. DCs which are found in the T cell areas of the lymphoid tissues are the most potent stimulators of T cells, and are believed to be the main cells that can activate naïve T cells (Banchereau & Steinman, 1998).

#### The MHC complex

#### The genes in the MHC complex

Molecules of the MHC were first discovered for their importance in rejection of tissue grafts between genetically non-compatible individuals (Thorsby 2009). The MHC, named the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) complex in humans, is encoded by a highly polymorphic complex of genes contained within 4 megabase pairs (1 % of the genome) on chromosome 6p21.3. The MHC region is divided into three; the class I gene region, followed by the class II and the class III gene region. Several of the genes encode classical immune response molecules, central in antigen presentation. The HLA genes are highly polymorphic and the genes are located in the class I (HLA -A, -C, -B) and class II (HLA -DR, -DQ, -DP) regions.

#### The MHC molecules

The function of MHC molecules is to bind peptides and display them on the cell surface to T cells. These membrane glycoproteins are divided into two types: Whilst MHC class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated cells, the MHC class II molecules are expressed primarily on professional APCs.

Whereas the MHC class I molecules are composed of a heterodimer of a 43 kilo Dalton (kDa) membrane-spanning  $\alpha$ -chain bound non-covalently to a 12 kDa  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin (which does not span the membrane), the MHC class II molecules are composed of two transmembrane non-covalently associated glycoprotein chains, the 33 kDa  $\alpha$ -chain and the 28 kDa  $\beta$ -chain (Murphy 2008). Whereas the MHC class I peptide-binding groove is constrained allowing only short peptides of 8 - 10 amino acids to bind, the ends of the MHC class II peptide-binding groove are open, allowing peptides of unlimited length to bind. Peptides eluted from MHC class II molecules are normally between 10 and 34 amino acids long (Murphy 2008; Madden 1995; Rudensky 1991; Vartdal 1996).

#### Presentation of T cell epitopes

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognise peptides derived from cytosolic proteins in the context of MHC class I molecules, whereas CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells interact with MHC class II molecules that presents fragments of proteins that have been degraded in the endocytic and phagocytic vesicles (Watts 1997).

The antigen fragments that bind to MHC class I are usually derived from endogenous proteins synthesised within the cell, including viral proteins, after being transported from the cytosol by proteins in the endoplasmatic reticulum membrane (Murphy 2008). Furthermore, in addition to sampling of endogenous peptides for presentation by MHC class I molecules, DCs and macrophages have the capability to present exogenous antigens internalised via the endocytic pathway to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Ackerman 2004). Such "cross-presentation" is thought to be critical for initiating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to antigens that would not otherwise gain access to the MHC class I presentation pathway in DCs.

Protein antigens determined for MHC class II molecules entering the endocytic pathway are unfolded and degraded into peptides before reassembling as integral components of the mature class II complex (Jensen 1995). In the different endosomal / lysosomal compartments, processing of protein antigens in the MHC class II pathway is achieved by exopeptidases, endopeptidases, and  $\gamma$ -interferon-induced lysosomal thiol reductase, including several cysteine proteases. The outcome of antigen processing is thought to be a key determinant of the quality and quantity of a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response (Watts 2004).

#### T cell activation and their effector functions

TCR interaction with the peptide / MHC complex is necessary, but not sufficient for triggering of the T cell. To become fully activated, T cells, and in particular naïve cells, must engage co-stimulatory molecules. The B7 molecules CD80 and CD86 displayed on the surface of APCs are recognised by CD28 molecules expressed by T cells. The fate of the T cell; death, fully activated or tolerant, depends on the strength and length of the interaction with peptide / MHC complex and cytokines in the environment (Lanzavecchia & Sallusto 2001; Sallusto & Lanzavecchia 2001). Accordingly, if the T cell receives appropriate costimulation, it will divide and differentiate into long-lived memory cells or effector cells.

Triggered CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T cells can differentiate into separate functional subsets, and exert their effector functions mainly through cytokine secretion. More than 20 years ago, Mosmann and Coffman described in mice the presence of two distinct populations of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper (T<sub>H</sub>) cells, T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>2, characterised by their distinct cytokine profile (Mosmann & Coffman 1989). Studies on T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>2 cells in humans have been more challenging, since a high percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from blood of healthy individuals have been found to display a mixed cytokine profile upon activation. Nevertheless, naïve conventional

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have five (and possibly more) distinct fates determined by signal patterns received through initial interaction with the antigen. These five T<sub>H</sub> cell populations include: T<sub>H</sub>1 cells with interferon (IFN)-γ as their signature cytokine, T<sub>H</sub>2 cells producing predominantly the signature cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10, T<sub>H</sub>17 cells secreting IL-17, IL-22 and transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β), and the recently identified skin-homing helper T cell subset, T<sub>H</sub>22 cells, that secrete IL-22 but neither IL-17 nor IFN-γ. In addition, adaptive regulatory T cells producing TGF-β and IL-10 are responsible for suppression of other T cells (Zhu & Paul 2008; Duhen 2009; Trifari 2009). Notably, it was recently demonstrated that T<sub>H</sub> cell lineages possess an unexpected degree of plasticity, which may allow them to adopt alternative fates or to acquire functions usually restricted to an opposite CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell linage (Wei 2009; Lee 2009).

Although no such subset diversification exists among CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells a variety of effector functions have been described, including cytotoxicity and cytokine production (Williams & Bevan 2006). Whilst some of these effector cells respond with only a limited functional repertoire, other can exert several effector functions such as production of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  (Stemberger 2007).

#### **B** cell immunity

In mammals, B cells arise from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow where they acquire a unique BCR. B cells mature independently of antigen stimulation into pro-B cells, and then further into pre-B cells and immature B cells before entering the antigen-dependent phase in the peripheral lymphoid tissues (Browning 2006).

Activation of a naïve B cell is initiated in response to specific antigen binding to the BCR. Following antigenic stimulation, B cells can process antigen and present it on their MHC II molecules to antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which give cognate help to the B cell (Lanzavecchia 1985). At the immunological synapse, antigen specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are activated and successively stimulate B cells through CD40L-CD40 interactions and cytokine secretion (Banchereau 1994). Optimal activation of human naïve B cells requires a third signal that can be delivered by TLR agonists or by cytokines produced by activated DCs (Ruprecht & Lanzavecchia 2006). Activated B cells can then adopt one of two fates: 1) movement into extrafollicular areas to become short-lived antibody producing cells, or 2) movement into B cell follicles and establishment of GCs (Jacob 1991). After affinity maturation in GCs, both long-lived memory B cells competent to give rapid and enhanced response to secondary antigen challenge and plasma cells capable of producing high-affinity antibodies are formed (Rajewsky 1996). From the GCs, long-lived plasma blasts migrate to the bone marrow where they differentiate into long-live plasma cells, while activated memory B cells may migrate to inflamed tissues and also to other organs including the brain (Knopf 1998; Dalakas 2008).

The TNF family members B cell activating factor (BAFF) and a proliferation-inducing ligand are vital factors for B cells survival, differentiation, formation of GC and production of Ig (Mackay & Schneider 2009). BAFF receptors are displayed on all B cells from stem cells to plasma cells (Dalakas 2008). High levels of BAFF are associated with the development of autoimmune disorders in animal models, and an excess of BAFF has been found in serum of patients with diverse autoimmune conditions (Mackay & Schneider 2009).

B cells also have a role in presenting antigen to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. B cells are adapted to bind specific soluble molecules through their cell-surface Ig and to internalise bound molecules by

receptor-mediated endocytosis. Since B cells constitutively express high levels of MHC class II molecules, high levels of specific peptide-MHC class II complexes appear on the B cell surface (Murphy 2008). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that receptor mediated uptake of antigen makes B cells 100 – 1.000 times more potent on presentation of specific antigen compared to other APCs, and they are therefore especially effective at presenting low concentrations of antigens bound by their BCR (Lanzavecchia 1990).

Optimisation of antibody affinity is a hallmark of the humoral immune response that takes place in hundreds of transient microstructures called GCs. The term "GC" was coined more than 120 years ago by Walter Flemming, who observed accumulations of large lymphocytes undergoing mitosis in the follicles of lymph nodes and proposed these to be the major source of all lymphocytes in the body (Nieuwenhuis & Opstelten 1984). Although it is not Flemming's GCs but the bone marrow which is the site of lymphocyte generation, the GCs are now known to be associated with T cell dependent antibody responses and are the most important sites for generation of high-affinity B cells. Furthermore, affinity maturation is often seen in parallel with an increased concentration of specific antibodies and class switch from IgM to other isoforms (Griffiths 1984; Siekevitz 1987; Chien 1988). Positively selected GC B cells may differentiate into either memory B cells or antibody-secreting plasma cells that subsequently exit GCs to become part of the circulating lymphocyte pool or migrate to the bone marrow as long-lived plasma cells, respectively (MacLennan 1994).

#### Immunoglobulin structure

Igs are the secreted form of the BCRs. Igs are large molecules of approximately 150 kDa, and are composed of two different kinds of polypeptide chains: heavy chains and light chains. Two heavy chains are linked to each other by disulfide bonds and each light chain is linked to a heavy chain by disulfide bonds and noncovalent interactions. This gives rise to an antibody molecule with two identical antigen-binding sites. Each of the four chains has a V region at its amino terminus, and this region contributes to the antigen-binding site. X-ray crystallography of antigen: antibody complexes has demonstrated that localised regions of hypervariable sequences of the Ig V regions form the antigenic-binding site of the antibody. The carboxyl terminal region, named the constant region, comprises one of five heavy chain classes or isoforms (IgM, IgD, IgG, IgA and IgE), some of which are found to have several subtypes. The constant regions are responsible for the biological effector functions of the antibody (Murphy 2008).

# **Autoimmunity**

Autoimmunity can be defined as adaptive immunity specific for self antigens (Murphy 2008). An overactive autoimmune response is believed to be one possible mechanism underlying development of autoimmune diseases, which affect 3 - 5 % of the human population in the industrialised part of the world (Ashwood 2006). Autoimmune disease can be divided into either organ-specific disorders, such as Type 1 diabetes (T1D) and myasthenia gravis, or systemic illnesses, such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA).

Little is known about how and why autoimmunity is triggered. A widely accepted hypothesis is that autoimmune diseases arise from an unfortunate combination of genetic and environmental factors. The low concordance rate for many autoimmune diseases among monozygotic twins suggests a substantial involvement of environmental factors. Evidence has indicated that microbes can initiate, enhance, or, conversely, abrogate autoimmunity (Christen 2005). Thus, a number of mechanisms for infection-induced autoimmunity have been postulated: 1) infection of target cells and organs, resulting in tissue destruction that may cause the release of sequestered antigens and enhanced antigen presentation by DCs and macrophages (under inflammatory conditions, upregulation of antigen processing events may lead to enhanced presentation of previously cryptic epitopes by the APCs which can be presented to self-reactive T cells), 2) epitope mimicry, and 3) bystander activation (Lehmann 1992; Benoist & Mathis 2001).

The involvement of activated B cells in autoimmune diseases has traditionally been viewed as a secondary consequence of the breakdown of T-cell tolerance (Dalakas 2008). This does not exclude that B cell play an instrumental role in the disease process. Thus, it was early demonstrated by

transfer experiments that some human diseases, such as myasthenia gravis, are directly mediated by pathogenic antibodies (Toyka 1975; 1977). In recent years, experimental evidence supporting an even more pronounced and diverse role of B cells in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases has grown: Thus, B cells could have a direct role via 1) production of autoantibodies or cytokine secretion, 2) indirectly influence T cell responses by presenting antigen or 3) by secreting antibodies that bind to antigens to form immune complexes. The observation that B cell depletion by using monoclonal antibodies against CD20 such as Rituximab, which depletes all cells of the B cell lineage except from stem cells, pro-B cells and plasma cells, as an effective therapy in autoimmune diseases such as RA and multiple sclerosis (MS), has provided an increased drive to explore the functions of B cells in autoimmune diseases (Edwards & Cambridge 2006; Hauser 2008).

#### Immune surveillance of the central nervous system

The concept of immune privilege of the central nervous system (CNS) emerged from studies of a phenomenon that had been observed for over 130 years, namely that allografts, which are rapidly rejected from tissues such as skin, are accepted when placed in the brain. As no immune rejection was evoked, the organ was called "privileged" (Medawar 1948). However, more recent studies have shown a slow and inefficient clearance after inoculation of virus into the parenchyma of the CNS (Stevenson 2002). Consequently, the claim that the CNS is a site of immune privilege has been modified, and it is now rather viewed as an immunologically specialised site (Ransohoff 2003).

Lymphocytes are rare in the CNS of healthy individuals partly because of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), which is a protective barricade that limits the entry of large molecules and circulating immune cells into the CNS. Immune activation is also limited in the CNS owing to the lack of endogenous APCs and a relative lack of lymphatic drainage of the parenchyma. To be able to interact with immune-competent cells in secondary lymphoid organs outside the BBB, the mammalian CNS has evolved pathways for delivery of antigens from the CNS parenchyma to the peripheral circulation. Additionally, three or more routes have been suggested to exist for leukocyte migration into the CNS from blood; 1) from the blood to the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) via the choroid plexus within the ventricles of the CNS, 2) from the blood to the subarachnoid space and, 3) from the blood to the parenchymal perivascular space (Harling-Berg 1999; Ransohoff 2003).

Under physiological conditions lymphocyte traffic across the BBB has been observed to be very low (Gowerman 2009). Pioneering studies demonstrated that the BBB strictly controls T cell traffic into the CNS as only activated but not resting T cells were able to

penetrate this barrier in healthy experimental animals (Wekerle 1987; Hicky 1991). Activated CD4<sup>+</sup> memory T cells enter CNS directly from the systemic circulation to 'inspect' the subarachnoid space, retaining their capability to either initiate local immune reactions or return to secondary lymphoid organs (Kivisakk 2003; 2009). Yet, how autoreactive T cells gain entry to an uninflamed brain to initiate disease has been unknown. Intriguing, it has recently been demonstrated that autoreactive T<sub>H</sub>17 cells expressing the chemokine receptor (CCR) 6 can gain access to the uninflamed CNS trough a "chink in the armour" of the BBB; the choroid plexus, by interaction with the chemokine ligand (CCL) 20 (Reboldi 2009; Axtell & Steinman 2009). CCL20 is constitutively expressed by epithelial cells of the choroid plexus in mice and humans, and it was suggested that the CCR6 - CCL20 axis controls an evolutionary conserved pathway of immune surveillance of the CNS (Reboldi 2009). Although huge numbers of immune cells can directly enter the CNS parenchyma through the "leaky" BBB during inflammation, lymphocyte recruitment into the CNS during MS or experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is not random as T cells detected in the CNS parenchyma and in the CSF are phenotypically distinct from T cells found in the blood (Engelhardt 1998; Zeine & Owens 1992; Hestvik 2008).

Leukocyte migration into the CNS parenchyma is a multi-step process: first, the cells must cross the vascular endothelial wall, and second they must transverse the astrocyte lining, each with its own basement membrane. The attachment of blood-borne T cells to the vascular bed, followed by diapedesis of immune cells across the endothelial barrier is mediated by several adhesion molecules, including intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), α4-integrins and laminins expressed on inflamed BBB (Bullard 2007; Carman & Springer 2004; Engelhardt 2005). New data has shown that the activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM) which bind to CD6 on leukocytes,

replaces VCAM-1 in the BBB endothelium during the development of neuroinflammatory diseases such as MS (Cayrol 2008). Blocking of ALCAM suppressed transmigration of T cells through the BBB and ameliorated EAE. Inflammatory chemokines direct leukocyte trafficking to inflamed tissues "on demand"; for example the chemokines CCL5 (RANTES), CCL3 (MIP- $1\alpha$ ), CCL4 (MIP- $1\beta$ ) and CCL10 (IP-10) attract mainly monocytes and T cells, which have been associated with lesion development in MS (Farina 2005).

To reach the brain parenchyma leukocytes must traverse the parenchymal basement membrane and the glial limitans. Recent evidence has shown that macrophage-derived gelatinase matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 activity is crucial for leukocyte penetration of the glia limitans during EAE (Agrawal 2006). Ablation of both MMP-2 and MMP-9 in double knockout mice confers resistance to EAE by preventing leukocyte infiltration into the CNS (Agrawal 2006).

The mechanisms of B cell migration into the CNS are not well understood as those that apply for T cells. However, the chemokine molecules CXCL13, CXCL10 and CXCL12 that are secreted from the endothelial wall are up-regulated in the brain of MS patients, thereby facilitating the recruitment and transmigration of B cells into the brain (Ritchie 2004; Meinl 2006). Additionally, B cell migration into the CNS is also facilitated by binding of the adhesion molecules very late antigen-4 and lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 to their counter-receptors VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 on the endothelial cells (Alter 2003).

# **Stiff Person Syndrome**

#### Historical background

Stiff man syndrome was originally described in 1956 by Moersch and Woltman (Moersch & Woltman 1956). Their first case in 1924 was a 49-year-old male farmer from Iowa who was examined because of a complaint of "muscle stiffness and difficulty in walking", hence the original term "stiff man syndrome". The pioneers went on and after 32 (from 1924 to 1956) years with seeking they published a series of 14 (10 males and 4 women) other similar patients (Moersch & Woltman 1956). Since then the disease has been observed more frequently in women than men, and is now generally referred to as Stiff Person Syndrome (SPS) (Goetz 1983). SPS is a rare disorder of the CNS with a reported annual incidence of one per million in the European population, which could be an underestimate due to misdiagnosis as a psychiatric disorder (Koerner 2004).

#### Clinical presentation

The core clinical features of classical SPS are stiffness that is prominent in axial muscles with co-contraction of agonist and antagonist muscles, and sudden episodic spasms in the absence of another disease that causes similar symptoms (Moersch & Woltman 1956; Levy 1999). SPS usually appears in adulthood and generally has a fluctuating, slowly progressive course; however, in a few cases sudden death has been reported (Mitsumoto 1991). The SPS spectrum which include stiff limb syndrome, jerking SPS and progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity (PER) share clinical, laboratory, electrodiagnostic and histopathological features

(Brown 1997; Leigh 1980; Whiteley 1976). Some patients present initially with stiff limb syndrome progress over time to classical SPS and from that to PER (Duddy & Baker 2009). In 5 % of the patients, SPS is a paraneoplastic manifestation. Such patients have been reported to have more prominent stiffness in neck and arms than other SPS patients (De Camilli 1993; Butler 2000).

Continuous co-contraction of agonist and antagonist muscles as a result of involuntary firing of motor units at rest is central to the pathophysiology of SPS (Lorish 1989; Thompson 2001). Because γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) is the brain's predominant inhibitory neurotransmitter, GABAergic neurotransmission could play a role in the pathogenesis. Moreover, *in vivo* magnetic resonance spectroscopy has revealed a prominent and significant reduction in GABA levels in the motor cortex but not in the occipital cortex of SPS patients (Levy 2005). This is consistent with a recent paper describing changes in central GABA-A receptors linked benzodiazepine binding sites in selected brain regions on positron emission tomography scans (Perani 2007). These data strongly suggest a GABAergic deficit in SPS, but it remains unclear whether this is due to a functional block or reflects primarily neuronal loss.

The histological findings of the few autopsies carried out so far have been inconsistent. The first report from Moersch and Woltman failed to demonstrate pathological lesions of specific areas of the CNS (Moersch & Woltman 1956). Evidence for an inflammatory process with selective loss of GABAergic neurons within the cerebellum and spinal cord, or a more aggressive inflammatory picture of perivascular lymphocytic infiltration including gliosis within the spinal cord, cerebral cortex, brainstem and basal ganglia have later been reported in some patients with SPS (Warich-Kirches 1997; Meinck 1994; Mitsumoto 1991).

Furthermore, autopsy has revealed vacuolar degeneration of anterior horn cells at the lumbar

segments of the spinal cord associated with prominent microglia proliferation and evidence of discrete infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells in patients with atypical SPS (Saiz 1999).

#### Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase

Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) converts glutamate to GABA (Erdo & Wolff 1990; Lernmark 1996). The two isoforms of GAD are named according to their respective molecular weights, GAD65 (585 amino acid residues) and GAD67 (594 amino acid residues). The isoforms are encoded by two different genes localised on chromosome 10 and 2 respectively (Brilliant 1990; Karlsen 1991; Bu & Tobin 1994; Erlander 1991). Although the two isoforms display a high similarity in their amino acid sequences, differences are found in their interaction with the co-factor pyridoxal-5'-phosphate and in enzyme kinetics for GABA production (Battaglioli 2003). Whereas cytosolic GAD67 is found to be constitutively active and is responsible for basal levels of GABA, the inducible cytosolic GAD65 associated with the GABA vesicle membrane is mostly present without its co-factor as an autoinactivated apoenzyme (Fenalti 2007). Upon reactivation with its co-factor, apo-GAD65 becomes holo-GAD65 that can catalyze synthesis of GABA when additional neurotransmitter is needed (Kash 1997). Whilst both GAD isoforms are found in the brain, only GAD65 is found in pancreas, though its function there is not clear (Lernmark 1996).

#### GAD65 IgG antibodies and GAD65-specific T cells in SPS

GAD IgG antibodies were first reported in 1988 by Solimena and co-workers in a patient affected by SPS and epilepsy. The GAD65 isoform was identified as the predominant autoantigen (Solimena 1988; Butler 1993). Antibodies to GAD65 are also found in 80 % of

patients with T1D and in some patients with cerebellar ataxia, epilepsy, myoclonus, Batten disease and Grave's disease (Backkeskov 1990; Saiz 1997). While antibodies against GAD65 in T1D target mainly conformational epitopes, the GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS have been shown to be of significantly higher levels and to detect both linear and conformational epitopes (Kim 1994; Bjork 1994; Daw 1996). The observation that disease severity in SPS did not correlate with GAD65 IgG antibody levels in serum or CSF in SPS patients suggested that GAD65 IgG antibodies may not have a direct pathogenic role in SPS (Rakocevic 2004; Burns 2005). Also, GAD65 IgG antibodies do not seem to transfer the disease symptoms from mother to infants (Nemni 2004). As GAD65 is a cytoplasmic molecule the pathogenic role of GAD65 IgG antibodies has been questioned. However, intrathecal administration of IgG from sera of patients with GAD65 IgG antibody-associated SPS induced neurophysiological and biochemical SPS-correlates in rats (Manto 2007). This phenomenon was not observed after administration of IgG antibodies from T1D patients, which indicate that SPS could be the direct consequence of antibody-mediated neuronal dysfunction (Manto 2007). Also, electrophysiological studies have shown that CSF or serum positive for GAD65 IgG antibodies from SPS patients, and not from T1D patients, can reversibly inhibit GABAergic transmission in rat cerebellar slices (Dinkel 1998; Ishida 1999; Vianello 2008).

Additional evidence for B cell involvement in SPS has been demonstrated by the beneficial effects of intravenous Ig (Vasconcelos 2003). It has also been observed that some SPS patients respond to treatment with immunomodulatory agents (Vicari 1989; Brashear & Phillips 1991; Hao 1999; Dalakas 2001). Plasmapheresis has been reported to be beneficial in some SPS patients, and in a case study the improvement of symptoms correlated with decreased GAD65 antibody levels (Dalakas 2009). Finally, anti-CD20 B cell therapy has been shown to be beneficial in reducing stiffness and increasing mobility, and resulted in

disappearance of GAD65 IgG antibodies in patients with PER and SPS (Saidha 2008; Baker 2005).

Attempts to detect GAD65-specific T cells in the peripheral blood from SPS patients have been few and not very successful, despite the fact that class-switched and high-affinity antibodies to GAD65 imply T cell involvement. Nevertheless, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from some SPS patients have been shown to respond weakly to synthetic GAD65 peptides or to recombinant human (rh)GAD65 (Costa 2002; Hummel 1998; Lohmann 2000, 2003). Additionally, a GAD65-specific T cell line has been established from the blood of an SPS patient, even though no primary proliferative PBMCs response against GAD65 was detected in the patient (Schloot 1999).

#### Other aspects of autoimmunity in SPS

A striking association with other organ-specific autoimmune diseases has been described in SPS (Solimena 1990). T1D is relatively common in SPS and occur in approximately 30 - 60 % of the patients, whereas the converse is not true (Solimena 1990; 1991). Other autoimmune diseases less commonly associated with SPS include thyroid diseases, pernicious anaemia, vitiligo and Graves' disease (Solimena 1990). Furthermore, it was recently reported of an SPS patient with celiac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis (O'Sullivan 2009). In addition, antibodies against GABA receptor-associated protein, a protein involved in the trafficking and assembly of the GABA-A receptor has been found in 70 % of SPS cases in one study (Raju 2006). Also, an antibody to glycine receptors has been identified in a patient with PER (Hutchinson 2008). In paraneoplastic variants SPS, antibodies are directed against two other proteins in the GABAergic and glycinergic

synapses; amphiphysin and gephyrin (Folli 1993; De Camilli 1993; Butler 2000). Interestingly, injection of serum IgG antibodies from a patient with paraneoplastic SPS and antibodies to amphiphysin into rats resulted in transient symptoms of stiffness with spasms resembling human SPS, showing that the IgG antibodies could be pathogenic (Sommer 2005). Recent studies from the same group showed that anti-amphiphysin antibodies from the same patient reduced GABA-induced calcium influx in embryonic motor neurons (Geis 2009).

An association to HLA-DQB1\*0201 and HLA-DRB1\*0301 in SPS has been reported in two studies (Pugliese 1993; Dalakas 2000). However, it is important to note that these studies were carried out on relatively small populations. In a short familial report on a father and his daughter who both had SPS associated with GAD65 IgG antibodies, the HLA-DQB1\*0201 (father) and DRB1\*0301 (daughter) alleles did not segregate with SPS (Burns 2003). Interestingly, HLA-DRB1\*06, which is an allele that is extremely uncommon in T1D patients, has been reported to be associated with a lower co-occurrence of diabetes in SPS (Pugliese 1993).

#### **Multiple Sclerosis**

MS is an inflammatory disorder of the brain and spinal cord, affecting more than 1 in 1.000 Caucasians living in temperate climate (Pugliatti 2002). In most patients the disease starts with transient neurological symptoms that are denoted clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), whereas an MS diagnosis requires further radiological or clinical dissemination of the disease process (McDonald 2001). It is thought that MS occurs in individuals with complex genetic-risk profiles after exposure to an environmental trigger that activates auto-reactive T cells allowing them to migrate across the BBB. In animal models of the inflammatory aspect of MS, T cells reactivated by CNS-resident APCs presenting CNS antigen can then recruit innate immune cells, which are important actors in the demyelination and neurodegeneration processes (McFarland 2007; Compston 2008). The hallmark features of MS are inflammatory demyelinating plaques with partial axonal preservation and reactive gliosis in the brain and spinal cord, particularly during the early (relapsing) stage of the disease (Prineas 1984; Kutzelnigg 2005). Different pathways involving distinct effector mechanisms have been suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis, and could possibly explain differences in the extent of demyelination, injury of oligodendrocytes and axonal damage seen among MS patients (Lucchinetti 1996, 2000, 2002). However, most active lesions in patients with longstanding MS are characterised by Igs and complement-mediated phagocytosis of oligodendrocytes and myelin, indicating that the pathogenesis of MS may converge to a common pathway (Breij 2008).

#### **Intrathecal B cell responses in MS**

Involvement of Igs in the pathogenesis of MS has long been suspected. Thus, intrathecal synthesis of gamma globulin was first described in 1942, and was shown to be at least partly oligoclonal in 1960 (Kabat 1942; Karcher 1960). An increase in intrathecally synthesised IgG antibodies which often results in oligoclonal IgG bands in the CSF is the most consistent clinical immunological abnormality in MS. Elevated levels of IgG antibodies in the CSF have been thought to be sustained by long-lived plasma cells recruited to or differentiating within the CNS (Prineas & Wright 1978). Extensive replacement mutations in the Ig V gene region of B cells and plasma cells isolated from demyelinated lesions or CSF of MS patients have provided evidence for an antigen-driven intrathecal humoral immune response and that dominant B cell clone populations can persist within the CNS (Oin 1998, 2003; Colombo 2000, 2003; Owens 2003). Post mortem histological findings of brain tissue have revealed structures strikingly similar to B cell follicles containing GCs in the meninges in secondary progressive MS, and found that the presence of such tertiary lymphoid structures are associated with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology (Prineas 1979; Serafini 2004; Magliozzi 2007). Concordantly, a complete recapitulation of B cell differentiation resembling the GC reaction has been found in the CSF of MS patients (Corcione 2004).

#### Intrathecal humoral immune responses against microorganisms in MS

Increased IgG antibodies and oligoclonal IgG bands have been detected in the CSF of humans with chronic infectious CNS diseases such as subacute sclerosing panencephalitis, neurosyphilis, cryptococcal, varicella zoster meningoencephalitis and progressive rubella encephalitis (Vandvik 1973; Vartdal 1982; Porter 1977; Vartdal 1982; Coyle 1981). Studies

of the specificity of CSF oligoclonal IgG bands in patients with CNS infections have revealed that the antibodies were directed against the agent that caused the disease (Vandvik 1982; Vartdal 1982). Since the oligoclonal IgG bands in CNS infections are specific for the causative infectious agent, it is conceivable that also the persistent Ig response in MS targets disease-relevant antigens. Despite considerable efforts, the specificities of the main IgG antibody fractions appearing as oligoclonal IgG bands in the CSF of MS patients remains enigmatic.

A peculiar characteristic of MS is the perpetual intrathecal synthesis of virus-specific antibodies (Vartdal 1982). Intrathecal synthesis of specific antibodies against one or more common viruses, such as measles virus (MeV), rubella virus, and varizella zoster virus (VZV) are found in more than 90 % of MS patients (Vartdal 1980; Sindic 1984). Most MS patients display oligoclonal virus-specific IgG bands restricted to the IgG1 subclass upon CSF analysis using IEF with immunoblot (Vartdal & Vandvik 1983). Intrathecal antibody syntheses against MeV and rubella virus are also present in vaccinated individuals with MS (Robinson-Agramonte 2007). Some of these antibodies are directed against RNA-viruses most unlikely to persist within the CNS, suggesting that the virus-specific antibodies are not part of an ongoing response against a latent infection.

The virus-specific IgG antibodies do not correspond to the main oligoclonal IgG bands in the CSF and constitute approximately only 2 % of the total CSF IgG (Reiber 1998). Whereas CSF IgG antibodies from patients with viral encephalitis have been shown to display high binding affinity against the causative agent, intrathecally synthesised virus-specific IgG antibodies from MS patients are of low affinity (Luxton 1995).

## Aims of the study

The problems addressed in this study are all related to the dysregulated intrathecal immunity in two chronic neurological disorders, and are grouped under the following subheadings: 1) Virus-specific IgG antibodies produced *in vitro* by CSF B cells from patients with MS and CIS, 2) GAD65-specific IgG antibodies in SPS and 3) GAD65-specific T cells in SPS.

# Paper 1: Virus-specific IgG antibodies produced by CSF B cells in vitro from MS and CIS patients

Although CSF B cells have been shown to produce virus-specific antibodies *in vitro* (Henriksson 1986; Salmi 1989; Baig 1989), the clonal patterns of these B cells are not known. In this study we wanted to explore:

- a) The clonal patterns of total IgG and of virus-specific IgG antibodies against MeV,
   VZV and herpes simplex virus type-1 (HSV-1) in supernatants of *in vitro* cultures of
   PBMCs and CSF cells and in sera and CSF from MS and CIS patients.
- b) The effect of BAFF on total IgG and on virus-specific IgG production in in vitro CSF cultures.

## Paper 2: GAD65-specific IgG antibodies in SPS

Earlier studies have shown a persistent intrathecal production of IgG antibodies against GAD65 in SPS (Dalakas 2001; Rakocevic 2004). In this study we wanted to further characterise of GAD65 IgG antibodies in CSF and serum by:

- a) Mapping the clonal patterns and subclass distribution of GAD65 IgG antibodies in CSF and serum.
- Analysing the avidities and binding capacities of serum and CSF derived GAD65 IgG antibodies.
- c) Investigating the temporal persistence of clonal patterns of GAD65 IgG in serum and CSF.

# Paper 3: GAD65-specific T cells from patients with SPS

Most patients with SPS display systemic and intrathecal production of IgG antibodies against GAD65, but little is known about the mechanisms driving this immune response. In order to explore the intrathecal cellular immune response against GAD65 and compare it with the systemic response, we attempted to clone GAD65-specific T cells from CSF and blood from SPS patients and investigate whether:

- a) GAD65-sepcific T cells are present in the CSF and the blood of patients with SPS, and if such T cells are sequestered in the CSF?
- b) And if so, what are the HLA restriction and the cytokine profile of GAD65-specific T cells?
- c) Also, can we identify the GAD65 epitopes recognised by CSF and blood T cells?

## Summary of the papers

## Paper 1:

In this paper we showed that *in vitro* cultured CSF cells from all six MS / CIS patients studied, whereas only one of the four control patients, produced oligoclonal IgG. In contrast, *in vitro* production of oligoclonal IgG by PBMCs was not detected in any patient. By using isoelectric focusing (IEF) with immunoblot, *in vitro* cultured CSF cells from all six patients with MS / CIS were shown to produce oligoclonal IgG antibodies against either MeV, VZV or HSV-1. In each patient, the *in vitro* and *in vivo* intrathecally produced antibodies were specific for the same viruses. However, the *in vitro* synthesised total IgG and virus-specific IgG antibodies were shown to display different clonal patterns from those produced intrathecally *in vivo*. Addition of BAFF did not affect the amounts or clonal patterns of either total IgG or virus-specific IgG antibodies produced by *in vitro* CSF cells cultures.

## Paper 2:

In this article, the avidities and clonal patterns of the GAD65 IgG antibodies in five patients with SPS were studied. By using radioimmunoassay (RIA) analyses we demonstrated that four of five SPS patients displayed intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies. Intrathecally and systemically produced oligoclonal GAD65 IgG antibodies, mainly of the IgG1 subclass, was found in all five SPS patients by using IEF with immunoblot. The binding avidity of GAD65 IgG antibodies from CSF was more than 10 times higher than in GAD65 IgG antibodies from serum in two of the patients, but did not differ significantly in the remaining three. All patients displayed higher GAD65 IgG antibody binding capacities (Bmax) in serum than in CSF. The oligoclonal GAD65 IgG bands in CSF and serum

persisted for years. These data indicate that a population of potentially pathogenic intrathecal and systemic GAD6-specific B cells or plasma cells persists in the intrathecal compartment in SPS patients.

### Paper 3:

This is the first study of GAD65-specific T cells from the CSF of SPS patients. 11 GAD65-specific T cells were cloned from CSF from three out of four SPS patients. In contrast, only one GAD65-specific T cell clone was generated from blood from one of the patients. The GAD65-specific T cells isolated were predominately restricted by HLA-DR. However, two T cell clones isolated from CSF of one of the patients studied displayed HLA-DP restriction. Mapping of GAD65 T cell epitopes showed that CSF T cell clones recognised four different GAD65 epitopes that were unique to each patient. In two patients, T cells recognising the same GAD65 epitope in the context of identical HLA molecules were cloned from more than one aliquot of the same CSF sample, suggesting that these T cells belonged to the same or to closely related clones, and that they had been clonally expanded in vivo. The T cell clone derived from blood recognised a unique GAD65 epitope which differed from the epitopes recognised by the CSF T cells. Notably, cysteine in amino acid position 474 was critical for recognition of GAD65 (474-484) by the HLA-DP restricted CSF T cells isolated from one of the SPS patients. All GAD65-specific T cell clones displayed a predominant Th1 phenotype, but some clones also produced Th2 cytokines. These results suggest that clonally expanded GAD65-specific T cells exist intrathecally in patients with SPS.

## **Methodological considerations**

## Patients, sample collection and ethical considerations

#### **Patients**

In paper I, MS, CIS and control patients were recruited to the study during routine diagnostic examination at the Department of Neurology, Oslo University Hospital Ullevål by neurologists working there.

In paper II and III, SPS patients were recruited from the Departments of Neurology at Oslo University Hospital Ullevål and Rikshospitalet. The latter serves as referral hospital for rare neurological disorders in Norway. Even though SPS is a rare disease with an estimated prevalence of 1 per 1.000.000, we managed to recruit five and four patients with SPS to the studies comprising paper II and III, respectively. Requests to other neurological departments in Norway have not identified additional patients with SPS and GAD65 IgG antibodies. The SPS patients studied therefore probable represent almost the entire Norwegian population of patients diagnosed with SPS.

In paper II, control patients with neurological diseases were recruited during routine diagnostic workup at the Department of Neurology at Oslo University Hospital Ullevål. In addition, sera from T1D patients with high levels of GAD65 IgG antibodies served as additional controls. These were made available from the biobank at the Hormone Laboratory at Aker University Hospital.

A limitation of paper III is the lack of controls. It would be beneficial to test if it was possible to generate GAD65-specific T cells from CSF or blood of control patients. This was not performed because CSF sampling and repeated blood sampling impose a substantial

burden on the patients, and patients not having SPS would likely be less eager to participate or more easily withdraw from the study.

#### Sample collection

In order to avoid confounding imposed by changes in the lymphocyte repertoire, paired blood and CSF samples were always collected within less than one hour and cultured in parallel. No visible contamination of blood was recorded during the spinal tap. Nevertheless, the first 2 ml of CSF was always discharged, as even diminutive amounts of blood would render the CSF sample non-representative primarily due to the high levels of cells in blood.

To obtain detectable IgG quantities by *in vitro* cultures of CSF B cells, only MS, CIS and control patients with CSF cell counts  $\geq 10$  cells per  $\mu$ l were included in paper I. In order to be able to generate several T cell lines from each SPS patient, GAD65-reactive T cell lines were generated from approximately 26 ml CSF (paper III).

#### **Ethical considerations**

All work included in this thesis has been approved by the Committee for Research Ethics and all other relevant institutions, and written informed consent was obtained from all patients before they entered the study.

It has been reported in a previous study that post puncture headache (PPH) is common and occur in 46 % of females and in 21 % of males (Vilming 2001). PPH was considered the major torment of using CSF in this study. It has been reported that PPH is more prevalent with the use of a 20- compared with a 22-gauge needle (Vilming 2001). Thin needles were

therefore used throughout. SPS patients were recruited for the study via experienced neurologists who stayed in contact with the patients during the study period.

## **Antigens**

#### Microbial antigens

As > 90 % of all MS patients has local synthesis against MeV and / or VZV, accordingly these viruses were chosen as antigens (Vartdal 1980). HSV-1 was included as 1 / 3 of MS patients have local production against this virus (Vartdal 1980).

The MeV and VZV antigens were produced from tissue culture of human cells infected with the viruses, whereas HSV-1 antigen was produced from permanent simian kidney tissue culture infected with HSV-1. The lyophilised virus antigens were dissolved in distilled water, sonicated and stored at -70°C. The advantage of using crude cell extracts for coating is that these antigen preparations contain a high range of antigenic determinants (Vartdal 1980). A possible disadvantage could be that they also contain contaminants from the cells and growth medium. However, no cross-reactivity was observed between virus-specific oligoclonal IgG bands from the same patients (paper I). Furthermore, *Borrelia burgdorferi* strain 152 was cultured in our laboratory.

## GAD65 protein and GAD65 peptides

#### **Recombinant human GAD65**

To analyse the clonal patterns of GAD65 IgG antibodies and select for GAD65-specific T cells from blood and CSF, rhGAD65 was used as antigen. This antigen was expressed in baculovirus infected *Spdoptera frugiperda* cells and the purity was tested to be  $\geq 95$  % on

sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (according to the manufacturer), and as well confirmed by high-performance liquid chromatography in our laboratory. As T cells are capable of responding to very low concentrations of antigens, even minute contamination may be sufficient to trigger proliferation of T cells that are specific for the contaminant (paper III). To confirm the specificity of GAD65-reactive T cells, a rhHLA-DQ2 protein was included as a negative control protein (paper III). This negative control protein was produced in the same expression system as rhGAD65 and should therefore contain the same contaminations.

#### **GAD65** peptides

To identify T cell epitopes and to further confirm the specificity of GAD6- reactive T cell clones, a panel of 144 16-mer overlapping peptides (approximately 50 % pure) spanning the complete amino acid sequence of GAD65 protein was synthesised. Each peptide overlapped the consecutive peptide with 12 amino residues, thereby allowing most potential CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell epitopes to be represented in the panel. The solubility of the lyophilised peptides was variable, and the peptides were therefore initially dissolved in 100 % dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Still, some of peptides tended to aggregate after dilution in the culture medium. DMSO is toxic. However; the concentration of DMSO in cell culture medium was always kept below the toxic concentration (0.1 %). For confirmation of specificity and determination of minimum epitopes, purified GAD65 peptides, including peptides that were truncated and contained amino acid substitutions, were purchased from another manufacturer (91-100 % pure).

The peptide yield was measured in four control peptides, which were synthesised in addition to the 144 peptides GAD65 peptides comprising the peptide panel. The yield of the

GAD65 peptides was estimated from the yield of the four control peptides. To ensure that the concentration of each peptide was sufficient during screening experiments, a high and an intermediate estimated peptide concentration (100  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) was used for this purpose. Yet, we cannot exclude that some of the peptide could be present in toxic concentrations or that some peptides were more or less insoluble and therefore present in too low concentrations to be detected by the T cells.

## Searching for GAD65-specific T cells in SPS patients

GAD65-reactive T cell lines from CSF and blood were cultured in parallel following identical procedures to minimise the differences imposed by *in vitro* manipulations. In order to select and expand GAD65-specific T cells, T cells from CSF and blood were stimulated with irradiated autologous PBMCs that had been preincubated with rhGAD65 overnight. To select for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that responded to primary antigen stimulation, IL-2 was not added until day seven of cell culture. Furthermore, as activated T cells express high affinity IL-2 receptors, addition of IL-2 at day seven would provide an extra proliferation signal to GAD65-specific T cells that had received antigen stimulation at day one. The cells were further stimulated at day 16 with irradiated autologous PBMCs that had been preincubated with rhGAD65 overnight. The advantage of repeated antigen stimulation is that specific T cells are selectively and efficiently propagated (Holmøy 2004). To avoid propagation of allospecific T cells, GAD65-specific T cells from CSF and blood cells were cultured in 10 % autologous serum the first 24 days. Moreover, antigen responsive T cell lines were cloned by limiting dilution by seeding 0.1 - 3.0 cells per well. The cloning frequency was 1 - 20 %,

which makes it more than 95% likely that each T cell clone is monoclonal (Fitch & Gajewski 1997).

The main obstacle to the study of CSF cells is, in addition to the before mentioned discomfort for the patients, the limited number of cells that can be obtained from each patient. It is therefore hardly possible to study primary T cell responses in CSF, and the T cells had to be subjected to in vitro expansion. An important consideration that must be taken into account is that the *in vitro* milieu may have altered the cytokine profile of the T cells or favoured the expansion of particular subsets of T cells. Although cytokines known to select for particular subsets of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were not used in the cell protocol, and although we were able to expand both T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>1 / T<sub>H</sub>2 polarised GAD65-specific T cell clones from SPS patients, it cannot be excluded that the method used to clone and expand the GAD65specific T cells may have influenced their cytokine profile. A further challenge is therefore to establish whether the GAD65-specific T cells also produce T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>1 / T<sub>H</sub>2 phenotype in vivo. Moreover, we have been able to establish both T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>2 polarised glatiramer acetate (GA)-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell lines and clones from both blood and CSF from MS patients by using the same protocol, and also demonstrated that T<sub>H</sub>2 polarized GA-reactive T cells accumulate in the CSF (Hestvik 2008). Furthermore, by using a similar method, Mycobactrium avium subspecies paratuberculosis-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells with a T<sub>H</sub>1 and a T<sub>H</sub>1 / T<sub>H</sub>17 phenotype have been cloned from intestinal biopsies of Crohn's disease patients (Olsen 2009). Collectively, these data indicate that the *in vitro* procedure used to clone CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in paper III is well suited for propagation of different phenotypes of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

Irradiated autologous PBMCs were used as APCs in all T cell assays. As repeated antigen stimulation was used to establish GAD65-reactive T cell lines, it is particularly important to consider whether such APCs also stimulate naïve T cells, that are likely less relevant for the

disease process. PBMCs contains several potential APCs, including monocytes, B cells and some DCs. Notably, a previous study revealed that while both naïve and memory T cells from both patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and healthy subjects proliferated upon stimulation with antigen-loaded autologous PBMCs, whilst only memory T cells from the primary biliary cirrhosis patients responded to antigen-loaded costimulation-incompetent APCs (Shimoda 2008). It is therefore possible that the cell culture procedure applied in this work also propagated some naïve GAD65-specific T cells. This is, however, most relevant for the blood-derived T cell lines, as predominantly activated T cells are supposed to enter the CNS (Hickey 1991). The T cells present in CSF are therefore likely to be of an activated phenotype, whereas T cells with a naïve phenotype that are less relevant for the disease constitutes a larger proportion of the T cells present in the blood.

## T cell proliferation assays and analysis of cytokine production

In this study, T cell proliferation was measured by a [<sup>3</sup>H] thymidine incorporation assay (paper III). This is a robust assay and well suited for screening and monitoring large number of T cell lines and clones. However, this method selects for T cells that proliferates upon activation, and neglects antigen-specific T cells with less pronounced proliferative potential, such as regulatory T cells. Another disadvantage of this method is the handling and disposal of radioisotopes, and it is therefore performed according to strict procedures.

The cytokine secretion was measured in cell culture supernatants by employing a bead-based multiplex system using Luminex 100 technology (paper III). Supernatants from T cells stimulated or not and *in vitro* CSF B cell cultures were harvested after 48 hours and seven days respectively, and kept frozen at - 70°C until analysis. In this assay, several populations

of beads in suspension are linked to different unique antibodies that can be separated from each other based on internal fluorescent dyes. The advantage of this assay is that a large number of samples can be analysed simultaneously for the presence of multiple cytokines.

#### B cell culture

To examine the clonal patterns of IgG and virus-specific IgG antibodies produced by *in vitro* cultured blood and CSF cells, supernatants from short term B cell cultures were studied. After collection of CSF, the cells were isolated by centrifugation. To prevent cell loss, CSF cells were washed only once in culture medium before cultivation. The blood was obtained within 30 minutes of the lumbar puncture, and PBMCs and CSF cells were cultured for seven days before the cell-free supernatants were analysed for IgG. In pilot experiments, CSF cell cultures from patients with  $\leq 10$  cells /  $\mu$ l did not secrete detectable amounts of IgG (detection limit 0.1 mg / ml) as measured with nephelometry. A short-coming of the nephelometry assay is that IgG concentration below 10 mg / ml is not always very reliable, however the measured *in vitro* synthesised IgG concentration correlated well with corresponding CSF and serum IgG when analysed on IEF for total oligoclonal IgG (paper I).

## **Detection of IgG and IgG antibodies**

## Quantification of GAD65 IgG by radioimmunoassay

To quantify GAD65 IgG in sera and CSF from SPS and control patients we have used RIA, which is a simple, reproducible and standardised assay that is routinely performed at the Hormone Laboratory at Aker University Hospital. Briefly, RIA was performed by using *in vitro* transcribed and translated [<sup>3</sup>H]-Leucine labelled humane islet GAD65 (1.8 x 10<sup>7</sup> dpm /

pmol) performed in *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) (Petersen 1994). Samples were incubated overnight with radio labelled GAD65, followed by isolation of immunocomplexes and counting of [<sup>3</sup>H]-Leucine GAD65 in a Microbeta counter. In order to quantify intrathecal GAD65 IgG synthesis, serum IgG samples were diluted to the same total IgG concentration as in the corresponding CSF sample, and GAD65 IgG activity was then measured in serial dilutions of the CSF and adjusted serum pair. The CSF / serum GAD65 IgG ratio was calculated from the activity in CSF and serum at three different dilutions, corresponding to the most linear part of the titrations curves.

The main advantage of RIA is that the immunoreactions occur in free solution, meaning that there should be an unrestricted access for antibodies to antigenic epitopes. A potential disadvantage is that the *in vitro* translated GAD65 may not display identical antigenic properties as GAD65 expressed in neurons *in vivo* or in mammalian *in vitro* expression systems, because no posttranslational modifications take place in prokaryote cells such as *E. coli* (Petersen 1994).

#### Qualitative analysis of IgG and IgG antibodies

The detection of intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal IgG with IEF is a useful diagnostic tool both in MS and other disorders of the CNS (Deisenhammer 2006). IEF with immunoblot was used to examine the clonal patterns of intrathecally synthesised IgG and of virus-specific IgG antibodies in supernatants of *in vitro* cultures of PBMCs and CSF cells and in sera and CSF from MS and CIS patients (paper I). Additionally, this technique was employed to study the clonal patterns of GAD65 IgG antibodies in sera- and CSF-pairs from SPS patients and sera from T1D patients (paper II). IEF with immunoblot uses a pH gradient to separate IgG populations on the basis of their charge. The isoelectrofocused proteins were then blotted

onto membranes with or without antigen, and visualised with enzyme-coupled anti-IgG antibodies. IEF is sensitive for detection of intrathecally synthesised IgG and can be performed on low amounts of IgG (paper I). However, the technique is even more sensitive when antigen coated membranes are used to detect synthesis of oligoclonal antigen-specific IgG antibodies as such antibodies are not 'drowned' by the background of total IgG (Deisenhammer 2006; Vartdal 1980).

A potential drawback of this technique is that when the proteins are immobilised by electrostatic polarity and Van der Waals forces on the nitrocellulose membrane, steric hindrance may influence antibody access to antigenic epitopes (Vianello 2005). Using RIA and IEF with immunoblots, high GAD65 IgG antibody activity and oligoclonal bands were detected in sera and CSF in all patients with SPS. In contrast, high GAD65 IgG antibody activity was detected by RIA in sera from T1D patients, but no oligoclonal GAD65 IgG bands (paper II). These results may be attributed to the well described differences in target epitopes of GAD65 IgG antibodies between neurological and diabetes patients (Daw1996).

#### Avidity and binding capacity of GAD65 IgG antibodies

In our study we employed Scatchard analysis to determine the  $K_D$  and Bmax of GAD65 IgG antibodies from SPS and T1D patients (McPherson 1985). In this competition assay, displacement of [ $^3$ H]-Leucine GAD65 binding to GAD65 IgG antibodies in serum or CSF samples by unlabeled GAD65 was performed by adding 0 - 15 pmol unlabeled GAD65. Binding data were analysed by non-linear curve analysis according to a one binding site model using the computer program  $_{KELL}$  (McPherson 1985). Noteworthy, Scatchard analyses is not extremely reliable and the values for  $K_D$  can have high margin of error (McPherson 1985). Binding studies of antibodies can be carried out by using surface plasmon resonance

technique. Although binding studies of antibodies can be carried out by using surface plasmon resonance technique, Scatchard analysis is, however, still commonly used (Drake & Klakamp 2007).

#### General discussion

The main general topics in this discussion are: 1) the relevance of CSF lymphocytes for the study of the immunopathogenesis of MS and SPS, 2) autoimmunity to GAD65 in SPS, and 3) B cell involvement in the intrathecal synthesis of virus-specific IgG antibodies in MS and GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS.

## The relevance of CSF lymphocytes in the studies of MS and SPS

From experimental models, in particular EAE, it has become clear that immune responses within the CNS have specific characteristics compared with systemic immunity (Steinman 2001). In humans, the compartmentalisation of the immune response in CNS is underscored by the perpetual intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal IgG in MS, CNS infections and other immune mediated neurological diseases, including SPS (Owens 2006; Dalakas 2001). CSF T and B cells from MS patients have been reported to be clonally expanded (Oksenberg 1990; Wucherpfennig 1992; Qin 1998; Colombo 2000; Owens 1998, 2003; Obermeier 2008). As the CSF is contiguous with the extracellular fluid of the CNS, analysis of distribution and phenotype of inflammatory cells in the CSF may help us to understand the unique immunological conditions within the CNS compartment.

Immune surveillance of the subarachnoid space is not necessarily identical with that of the CNS, and whether the IgG production from CSF cells reflects the humoral immune response in the CNS is unknown. In support of the relevance of CSF B cells, it has recently been shown that transcribed V(D)J genes from CSF B cells correspond with the amino acid sequence of CSF Ig (Obermeier 2008). Although the specificity of the main fractions of the

oligoclonal IgG is unknown, intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal IgG antibodies against a broad panel of viral agents including MeV, VZV and HSV-1 is a characteristic feature of MS (Vartdal 1982). Comparison of the virus-specific IgG in the CSF with that produced *in vitro* by CSF B cells therefore offers a possibility to address whether CSF B cells actually reflect the IgG-producing B cells in the CNS. In paper I we therefore asked if the clonal patterns and specificities of antibodies to MeV, VZV and HSV-1 produced *in vitro* by CSF cells from MS and CIS patients correspond to that produced intrathecally *in vivo*. We showed that *in vitro* cultured CSF cells from these patients produced oligoclonal IgG antibodies against the same viruses targeted by oligoclonal CSF IgG antibodies synthesised intrathecally *in vivo*.

Although the overall numbers of virus-specific IgG bands and their clonal patterns differed, the results indicate that the specificities of antibody producing B cells in the CSF reflect those of antibody synthesising cells in other locations of the CNS.

It has been suggested that IgG-mediated complement deposition within MS lesions plays an important role in the pathogenesis of the disease (Breij 2008). This might suggest that the concentration of the most relevant antibodies is reduced in the CSF, as these antibodies may be bound in the MS lesions, or that the antibodies produced from CSF cells represent only a fraction of a much larger repertoire of antibody producing cells within the CNS. Likewise, the most relevant B cells might be trapped in the tissue, whereas B cells present in the CSF might be irrelevant bystanders. B cell clones producing low-avidity virus-specific IgG antibodies could possibly be an example of such irrelevant bystanders, as several of the viruses targeted by these IgG antibodies are not likely to be present in the CNS. Nevertheless, the corresponding specificities between virus antibodies in CSF and *in vitro* CSF B cell cultures highlight the relevance of studying CSF B cells in MS and possibly also in other

neurological diseases. The results do, however, not prove that CSF B cells correspond with B cells present within the CNS lesions or elsewhere in the intrathecal compartment.

One of the major issues in understanding the pathophysiology of human autoimmune diseases is to identify the target antigens that drive the clonal expansion of autoreactive T cells. In paper II we showed that the synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS is oligoclonal and mediated by a stable population of affinity maturated B cell clones, suggesting that these antibodies are produced by B cells having received T cell help. Indeed, in paper III, we found evidence suggesting that HLA-DR or HLA-DP restricted GAD65-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells accumulate in the CSF of SPS patients with intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies. Also, in two of the patients studied, we found evidence suggesting that identical or closely related GAD65-specific CSF CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell clones had been expanded *in vivo*. In contrast, only one GAD65-specific T cell clone could be raised from the blood in one of the patients, implying that GAD65-specific T cells from SPS patients had accumulated in the vicinity of the diseased organ.

These results concur with those from other immune mediated diseases, in particular celiac disease, showing that disease relevant T cells accumulate in the diseased organ (Molberg 1998). Notably even though disease-specific T cells from patients with celiac disease and T1D can enter the circulation for short periods of time, it has been difficult to identify clonally expanded disease specific-T cells in peripheral blood (Hafler 1988; Raki 2007). Furthermore, although a lack of a systemic response to insulin peptides in T1D patients, expanded T cells recognising an insulin epitope have been observed in draining pancreatic lymph nodes (Kent 2005). Together with the findings presented in this thesis, these observations support the thought that T cells present in the diseased organ more accurately

reflect the cell population relevant for the disease process. This question has been difficult to address in MS and most other immune mediated CNS diseases, because the specificity of the immune response is not established. In this context it is also noteworthy that a previous study of 36 MS patients showed an overrepresentation of CD8 $^+$  T cells expressing particular TCR-variable  $\beta$  chains in the CSF compared with the blood in the majority of patients, suggesting that clonal T cell expansion occurring in the CSF can be detected in MS patients (Jacobsen 2002). These results concur with the observations on GAD65-specific T cells in SPS presented in paper III.

## **Autoimmunity to GAD65 in SPS**

Do GAD65 antibodies or any of the other SPS-associated autoantibodies described to date cause SPS, or are they only markers of autoimmunity? One well-rehearsed argument is that SPS autoantibodies are not pathogenic, because they are directed against intracellular proteins (Duddy & Baker 2009). This question is, however, beyond the scope of this thesis and will therefore not be further discussed. Some of the findings in this thesis may however have implications for the understanding of the immunobiology of GAD65 both in SPS and in more general terms.

#### The synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies

Even though T - B cell collaboration has not been studied directly in this thesis, the data in paper II and III indicating that clonally expanded GAD65-specific T cells co-exist with clonally expanded GAD65-specific B cells in the diseased organ, suggest a role for T cells in sustaining the intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS. The exact anatomical

location for the intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS remains unknown. Recently, one of the SPS patients studied in this thesis (patient SPS 3) has deceased. His symptoms included stiffness and spasms typical of SPS, as well as a malignant course with lower motor signs in one leg compatible with PER. This patient displayed intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal GAD65 IgG antibodies as well as clonal expansion of GAD65specific T cells. Autopsy revealed unilateral axonal swelling, chromatolysis and vacuolisation of anterior horn cells of the lower spinal cord, in addition to discrete infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells and microglial proliferation, but no CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells or plasma cells were detected within the inflamed section of the spinal cord or elsewhere in the CNS (Holmøy 2009). Obviously, this does not exclude that such cells were present in other locations of the CNS than those that were subjected to neuropathological examination. The meninges have to my knowledge not been examined in autopsies from SPS patients, and may be an important localisation for the intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG. The lack of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells and plasma cells within the inflamed section of the spinal cord may imply that the intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies is not directly related to the inflammation associated with tissue destruction (Holmøy 2009). Thus, GAD65-specific T - B cell collaboration – if it occurs – rather takes place elsewhere, either in the meninges or in other places inside or outside of the CNS.

Interestingly, as shown in papers II and III, we were not able to clone GAD65-specific T cells from CSF from the only SPS patient (SPS 1) without substantial intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 IgG antibodies. Given that this patient displayed high GAD65 IgG antibody activity and binding capacity in serum, we speculate that physiological transfer of GAD65 IgG antibodies from serum to CNS may be sufficient to evoke neurological symptoms (paper II). Accordingly, many patients with voltage-gated potassium channel (VGKC) antibodies and

immunotherapy-responsive limbic encephalitis do not have oligoclonal IgG bands and their CSF is negative for VGKC antibodies (Vincent 2004; Jarius 2008). Thus, the lack of an intrathecal GAD65 IgG antibody synthesis does not necessarily exclude autoimmunity.

#### GAD65 as an autoantigen

An enduring question in autoimmunity is why only a limited proportion, ~ 2-3 %, of all human proteins becomes selected as autoantigens (Plotz 2003). It is striking that most autoantigens are localised intracellularly, raising the question of why they are targeted and the consequences of the immune response (Fenalti & Rowley 2008). The recent publication of N-terminally truncated crystal structures for the two isoforms, GAD65 and GAD67, have revealed that only the former has a very flexible and inherently mobile sequence in the Cterminal region, which may render this region highly available to endopeptidases (Fenalti & Rowley 2008). Strikingly, non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice exhibit a spontaneous proliferative response to GAD65 at the onset of insulitis (Kaufman 1993; Tisch 1993). The T cell responses are initially directed towards a few so-called spontaneous epitopes (residues 509-528 and 524-543 in the C-terminal, region of the GAD65 molecule) with later spreading to other T cell epitopes as the disease progresses (Kaufman 1993; Dai 2005). Interestingly, GAD65-specific T cell epitopes from one of the SPS patients (SPS 2) were localised within the C-terminal region (residues 474-484 and 555-565) of GAD65. This is in line with previous findings in T1D showing that T cell epitopes to GAD65 localise to residues 481-495, 511-525 and 551-585 (Patel 1997; Nepom 2001). Furthermore, the C-terminal region is also targeted by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and of interest, tolerance-inducing DNA coding for the Cterminal region, GAD<sub>500-585</sub>, has been shown to protect NOD mice from diabetes (Quinn 2001; Han 2005).

Furthermore by combining the N-terminally truncated high-resolution crystal structure of GAD65 with an "immunological" panel of 11 monoclonal antibodies to GAD65 established from T1D patients, the location of antibody epitopes on GAD65 has been examined (Fenalti 2008). Two mutually exclusive clusters of B cell epitopes have been defined on opposing faces of the C-terminal domain of GAD65 in T1D (Fenalti 2008). Notably, T cell epitopes from T1D patients are localised to the same surface region of GAD65 (Fenalti & Rowley 2008). Of interest, T and B cell epitopes from T1D patients overlap on GAD65, but the immunological meaning of this remains to be understood. While antibodies to GAD65 from T1D patients recognise mainly conformational epitopes, additional linear epitopes on GAD65 are recognised in SPS (Lernmark 1996). Particularly, an N-terminal linear epitope that distinguishes sera from SPS and T1D has been repeatedly reported (Butler 1993; Kim 1994; Raju 2005). None of the GAD65-specific T cell epitopes from the SPS patients studied, paper III, overlapped with the identified linear N-terminal GAD65 antibody epitope (residues 4 -22). As no monoclonal antibody to GAD65 has been established from SPS patients until now, it cannot be excluded that the GAD65 T cell epitopes may overlap with other B cell epitopes to GAD65 characteristic for SPS. This question also needs to be addressed in SPS, to provide more insights into the GAD65 immunobiology.

#### **Breaking tolerance to GAD65**

Although a number of mechanisms have been proposed and contributing genes have been identified, the cause of autoimmunity is still elusive. As in most autoimmune diseases, the factors initiating loss of tolerance to GAD65 in SPS are not clear.

In paper III we report two DP-restricted CSF T cell clones that initially responded weakly to rhGAD65 protein but later failed to respond to several batches of rhGAD65 protein. These

clones responded vigorously and persistently to synthetic GAD65 peptides, residues 474-484, showing that the failure to recognise rhGAD65 protein was not due to loss of responsiveness or specificity. Although we cannot exclude difference in quality between the different rhGAD65 protein preparations, it is peculiar that this epitope carries a cysteine residue ( $C_{474}$ ) found to be critical for T cell recognition. The six cysteine residues located in the N-terminal domain of GAD65 have been shown to form disulfide bonds in vitro (Battaglioli 2005). The C<sub>474</sub> residue may be involved in a disulfide bond that is structural protected, and may therefore potentially be part of a cryptic epitope that has not been presented to T cells during T cell education in thymus. Under normal physiological conditions, cryptic epitopes are inefficiently processed and presented (Sercarz 1993). However, under inflammatory and other immunostimmulatory conditions, upregulation of antigen processing events can lead to enhanced processing, including enzymatic cleavage of disulfide bonds, and presentation of the cryptic epitopes by the APCs (Lehmann 1992). This may lead to the priming of cryptic epitope-specific T cells. Notably, the GAD65-specific T cells (paper III) produced substantial amounts of IFN-γ, which among other functions could induce expression of IFN-γ dependent proteases within the CNS. Moreover, further studies must be conducted to determine if oxidation of cysteine indeed is the cause of an inefficient processing of the GAD65 epitope. It is, however, an intriguing possibility that the relatively cryptic GAD65 epitope, residues 474-484, has been unmasked by intrathecal APC during the diseases process of SPS, and therefore made available for intrathecal T cells.

In paper II we showed that the intrathecally and systemically synthesised GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS generally have high binding avidity, and that the avidity was higher in CSF than in serum in some patients. Yet, how the antibodies can influence antigen processing and

thereby affect GAD65 presentation to T cells in SPS is unknown. One possibility is that GAD65 IgG antibodies bind GAD65, thereby enhancing uptake and presentation of GAD65 by APCs. Numerous studies have shown that soluble monoclonal antibodies can increase presentation of the antigen they bind to by facilitating antigen capture through fragment crystallisable receptors (Ravetch & Bolland 2001). A study using GAD65IgG antibodypositive sera from T1D patients found enhanced presentation of an immunodominant T-cell epitope when GAD65 immune complexes rather than antigen alone were used to stimulate PBMCs (Reijonen 2000). However, it has been observed that high affinity antibodies does not dissociate from antigen at mildly acidic pH of the processing compartment and, therefore, the substrate for proteases is the antigen - antibody complex rather than antigen alone (Lanzavecchia 1995). In APCs antigen-antibody complexes can remain intact after internalisation and fragmentation by proteases along the antigen-processing pathway, thus protecting residues from proteolysis and thereby modulate the presentation of peptides to T cells (Quaratino 2005). Consequently, the fine specificity of a soluble antibody that binds to an antigen can affect the processing and presentation of T cell epitopes by either boosting or suppressing a particular epitope (Simitsek1995; Watts & Lanzavecchia 1993). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated in T1D that GAD65-specific B cells and antibodies can modulate the autoimmune T cell repertoire by down-regulating T cell epitopes in an immunodominat area whilst boosting distant or cryptic regions (Jaume 2002; Banga 2004). Whether the autoimmune GAD65-specific B cells and the antibodies they secrete may play a role in shaping the autoimmune T cell responses in SPS have not been elucidated. The results presented in paper II and III do; however, show that some of the requirements for such T-B cell collaboration are present in the intrathecal compartment of patients with SPS. Further studies are, however, required to reproduce this. Understanding how GAD65 antibodies can

influence presentation of T cell epitopes may hold important clues on the mechanisms controlling autoimmunity both in SPS and T1D.

# Antibody secreting cells of the intrathecally synthesised virusspecific IgG antibodies in MS and GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS

The mechanisms of the perpetuating intrathecal synthesis of virus-specific IgG antibodies and GAD65 IgG antibodies in MS and SPS respectively, are not known. It has been shown that the clonal patterns of virus-specific oligoclonal IgG antibodies in MS may be dynamic during early stages of the disease, but that they mainly remain stable (Sandberg-Wollheim 1987). In paper I, we showed that BAFF supplementation did not affect the amount of IgG or clonal patterns of virus-specific IgG antibodies produced by *in vitro* CSF cell cultures, indicating that cells producing these antibodies are of plasma cell phenotypes not affected by BAFF, as only transitional phases of B cells express BAFF-receptors (Dalakas 2008).

Interestingly, it has been observed that anti-CD20 B cell depleting treatment in relapsing-remitting MS patients significantly decreases the number of B cells in peripheral blood and CSF, and in addition depletes B cells from cerebral perivascular spaces, while the intrathecally synthesised oligoclonal IgG bands remain unaffected (Hauser 2008; Stuve 2005; Martin Mdel 2009; Monson 2005). This may indicate that the intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal IgG antibodies in MS is generated from long-lived plasma cells not affected by the treatment, as CD20 is not expressed on plasma cells. The tendency of the oligoclonal IgG bands to persist in MS patients with anti-B cell depletion therapy may imply that the CNS provides a long-term survival niche for plasma cells producing antibodies that are not directly involved in the pathogenesis (Meinl 2006). It would be interesting to examine the persistence

of intrathecal virus-specific oligoclonal IgG antibodies after anti-CD20 B cell depletion to further understand the role of both these B cell subsets and virus-specific antibodies in MS pathogenesis.

In paper II we reported that class-switched, high avidity GAD65 IgG antibodies in the CSF and serum from SPS patients are oligoclonal. In addition, the pattern of oligoclonal GAD65 IgG bands in CSF and serum in three SPS patients remained unchanged several years after symptom debut. Notably, these patients have not received immunomodulating drugs that could alter the immune response to GAD65. Of interest, a single case report on an SPS patient demonstrated a rapid decline of intrathecal GAD65 IgG antibodies following anti-CD20 treatment, which suggested a successful targeting and elimination of autoantibody producing B cells within the CNS (Baker 2005). Furthermore, clinical trials with B cell depletion in other autoimmune diseases, such as RA and SLE, reported that certain autoantibodies, anti-DNA and rheumatoid factor, decayed after anti-CD20 B cell therapy (Cambridge 2003; Sfikakis 2005; Ahuja 2007). It is tempting to speculate that the continuously produced GAD65 IgG antibodies in SPS patients are being generated rapidly from renewing CD20<sup>+</sup> B cell precursors, most consistent with the short-lived plasmablasts pathway. This is indeed consistent with our findings of intrathecal GAD65-specific T cells in paper III. Whether GAD65 specific B cells are also involved in antigen-presentation to GAD65-specific T cells is unknown. This may imply that the autoantibody response, although chronic in terms of the individual, may be a dynamic and ongoing process (Shlomchik 2008).

# **Future perspectives**

## Human monoclonal GAD65 IgG antibodies from SPS patients

Although the results presented in this thesis show that GAD65-specific T and B cells coexist intrathecally in SPS patient, their role in the pathogenesis remains unknown.

To establish whether epitope-specific GAD65 antibodies have a role in the pathogenesis of SPS will require *in vivo* transfer studies of GAD65 antibodies from SPS patients. As GAD65 antibodies in CSF and serum may have different properties regarding epitope specificity and avidity, and because GAD65-specific antibodies only comprise a small fraction of IgG from serum and CSF, such experiments should ideally be performed with purified CSF and serum antibodies from SPS patients. Unfortunately, it is not likely to be feasible to obtain sufficient quantities of GAD65 antibodies from CSF of SPS patients. Moreover, it would not be very difficult to identify which of the many GAD65 specific IgG clones present in serum or CSF samples that eventually mediate the pathogenic effect. An alternative approach would be to use monoclonal antibodies with distinct epitope specificities. CSF B cells have previously been cloned from the CSF of MS patients in our laboratory (Holmøy 2005). Yet the limited number of antigen specific B cells has so far precluded the cloning of human GAD65 specific CSF B cells.

To approach this issue, we are in the process of establishing a method for making human monoclonal antibodies based on an improved method for EBV immortalisation of human memory B cells (Traggiai 2004). The advantage of EBV-immortalised B cells is to have a continuous and direct source of GAD65-specific antibody secreting and antigen presenting cells. Additionally, B cell lines producing monoclonal GAD65 IgG offering a possibility to characterise monoclonal antibodies on the protein and DNA level to clarify the role of

epitope specificity, affinity maturation and selection of GAD65-specific IgG antibodies in SPS. Moreover, they could be valuable tools for the study of T - B cell collaboration in SPS.

#### References

Ackerman AL, Kyritsis C, Tampé R and Cresswell P. Access of soluble antigens to the endoplasmic reticulum can explain cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* 2005; 6: 107-113.

Ahuja A, Shupe J, Dunn R, Kashgarian M, Kehry MR and Shlomchik MJ. Depletion of B cells in murine lupus: efficacy and resistance. *J Immunol* 2007; 179: 3351-3361.

Agrawal S, Anderson P, Durbeej M, van Rooijen N, Ivars F, Opdenakker G and Sorokin LM. Dystroglycan is selectively cleaved at the parenchymal basement membrane at sites of leukocyte extravasation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med* 2006; 203: 1007-1019.

Alter A, Duddy M, Hebert S, Biernacki K, Prat A, Antel JP, Yong VW, Nuttall RK, Pennington CJ, Edwards DR and Bar-Or A. Determinants of human B cell migration across brain endothelial cells. *J Immunol* 2003: 170: 4497-4505.

Amanna IJ, Carlson NE and Slifka MK. Duration of humoral immunity to common viral and vaccine antigens. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 1903-1915.

Ashwood P, Wills S and Van de Water J. The immune response in autism: a new frontier for autism research. *J Leukoc Biol* 2006; 80: 1-15.

Axtell RC, Steinman L. Gaining entry to an uninflamed brain. Nat Immunol 2009; 10: 453-455.

Baekkeskov S, Aanstoot HJ, Christgau S, Reetz A, Solimena M, Cascalho M, Folli F, Richter-Olesen H and De Camilli P. Identification of the 64K autoantigen in insulin-dependent diabetes as the GABA-synthesizing enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase. *Nature* 1990; 347: 151-156.

Baig S, Olsson O, Olsson T, Löve A, Jeansson S and Link H. Cells producing antibody to measles and herpes simplex virus in cerebrospinal fluid and blood of patients with multiple sclerosis and controls. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1989; 78: 390-395.

Baker MR, Das M, Isaacs J, Fawcett PR and Bates D. Treatment of stiff person syndrome with Rituximab. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2005; 76: 999-1001.

Banchereau J & Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature 1998; 392: 245-252.

Banchereau J, Bazan F, Blanchard D, Brière F, Galizzi JP, van Kooten C, Liu YJ, Rousset F and Saeland S. The CD40 antigen and its ligand. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1994; 12: 881-922.

Banga JP, Moore JK, Duhindan N, Madec AM, van Endert PM, Orgiazzi J and Endl J. Modulation of antigen presentation by autoreactive B cell clones specific for GAD65 from a type I diabetic patient. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2004; 135: 74-84.

Battaglioli G, Liu H, Hauer CR and Martin DL. Glutamate decarboxylase: loss of N-terminal segment does not affect homodimerization and determination of the oxidation state of cysteine residues. *Neurochem Res* 2005; 30: 989-1001.

Battaglioli G, Liu H and Martin DL. Kinetic differences between the isoforms of glutamate decarboxylase: implications for the regulation of GABA synthesis. *J Neurochem* 2003; 86: 879-887.

Benoist C & Mathis D. Autoimmunity provoked by infection: how good is the case for T cell epitope mimicry? *Nat Immunol* 2001; 2: 797-781.

Björk E, Velloso LA, Kämpe O and Karlsson FA. GAD autoantibodies in IDDM, stiff-man syndrome, and autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I recognize different epitopes. *Diabetes* 1994; 43: 161-165.

Brashear HR & Phillips LH 2nd. Autoantibodies to GABAergic neurons and response to plasmapheresis in stiff-man syndrome. *Neurology* 1991; 41: 1588-1592.

Breij EC, Brink BP, Veerhuis R, van den Berg C, Vloet R, Yan R, Dijkstra CD, van der Valk P and Bö L. Homogeneity of active demyelinating lesions in established multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* 2008; 63: 16-25.

Brilliant MH, Szabo G, Katarova Z, Kozak CA, Glaser TM, Greenspan RJ and Housman DE. Sequences homologous to glutamic acid decarboxylase cDNA are present on mouse chromosomes 2 and 10. Genomics 1990; 6: 115-122.

Brown P, Rothwell JC and Marsden CD. The stiff leg syndrome. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1997; 62: 31-37.

Browning JL. B cells move to centre stage: novel opportunities for autoimmune disease treatment. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2006; 5: 564-576.

Bu DF & Tobin AJ. The exon-intron organization of the genes (GAD1 and GAD2) encoding two human glutamate decarboxylases (GAD67 and GAD65) suggests that they derive from a common ancestral GAD. *Genomics* 1994; 21: 222-228.

Bullard DC, Hu X, Schoeb TR, Collins RG, Beaudet AL and Barnum SR. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression is required on multiple cell types for the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 2007; 178: 851-857.

Burnet FM. Immunological recognition of self. Science 1961; 133: 307-311.

Burns TM, Phillips LH 2nd and Jones HR. Stiff person syndrome does not always occur with maternal passive transfer of GAD65 antibodies. *Neurology* 2005; 64: 399-400.

Burns TM, Jones HR, Phillips LH 2nd, Bugawan TL, Erlich HA and Lennon VA. Clinically disparate stiffperson syndrome with GAD65 autoantibody in a father and daughter. *Neurology* 2003; 11: 1291-1293.

Butler MH, Hayashi A, Ohkoshi N, Villmann C, Becker CM, Feng G, De Camilli P and Solimena M. Autoimmunity to Stiff-Man Syndrome. *Neuron* 2000; 26: 307-312.

Butler MH, Solimena M, Dirkx R Jr, Hayday A and De Camilli P. Identification of a dominant epitope of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD-65) recognized by autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome. *J Exp Med* 1993; 178: 2097-2106.

Cambridge G, Leandro MJ, Edwards JC, Ehrenstein MR, Salden M, Bodman-Smith M and Webster AD. Serologic changes following B lymphocyte depletion therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2003; 48: 2146-2154.

Carman CV & Springer TA. A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them. *J Cell Biol* 2004; 167: 377-388

Cayrol R, Wosik K, Berard JL, Dodelet-Devillers A, Ifergan I, Kebir H, Haqqani AS, Kreymborg K, Krug S, Moumdjian R, Bouthillier A, Becher B, Arbour N, David S, Stanimirovic D and Prat A. Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. *Nat Immunol* 2008; 9: 137-145.

Chien NC, Pollock RR, Desaymard C and Scharff MD. Point mutations cause the somatic diversification of IgM and IgG2a antiphosphorylcholine antibodies. *J Exp Med* 1988; 167: 954-973.

Christen U & Herrath MG. Infections and autoimmunity-good or bad? J Immunol 2005; 174: 7481-7486.

Colombo M, Dono M, Gazzola P, Mancardi GL and Ferrarini M. Maintenance of B lymphocyte-related clones in the cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. *Eur J Immunol* 2003; 33: 3433-3438.

Colombo M, Dono M, Gazzola P, Roncella S, Valetto A, Chiorazzi N, Mancardi GL and Ferrarini M. Accumulation of clonally related B lymphocytes in the cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* 2000; 164: 2782-2789.

Compston A & Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 2008; 25: 1502-1517.

Corcione A, Casazza S, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Zappia E, Pistorio A, Gambini C, Mancardi GL, Uccelli A and Pistoia V. Recapitulation of B cell differentiation in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2004; 101: 11064-11069.

Costa M, Saiz A, Casamitjana R, Castañer MF, Sanmartí A, Graus F and Jaraquemada D. T-cell reactivity to glutamic acid decarboxylase in stiff-man syndrome and cerebellar ataxia associated with polyendocrine autoimmunity. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2002; 129: 471-478.

Coyle PK & Wolinsky JS. Characterization of immune complexes in progressive rubella panencephalitis. Ann Neurol 1981; 9: 557-562.

Crotty S, Felgner P, Davies H, Glidewell J, Villarreal L and Ahmed R. Cutting edge: long-term B cell memory in humans after smallpox vaccination. *J Immunol* 2003; 171: 4969-4973.

Dai YD, Jensen KP, Lehuen A, Masteller EL, Bluestone JA, Wilson DB and Sercarz EE. A peptide of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 can recruit and expand a diabetogenic T cell clone, BDC2.5, in the pancreas. *J Immunol* 2005; 175: 3621-3627.

Dalakas MC. Stiff person syndrome: advances in pathogenesis and therapeutic interventions. *Curr Treat Options Neurol* 2009;11: 102-110.

Dalakas MC. B cells as therapeutic targets in autoimmune neurological disorders. *Nat Clin Pract Neurol* 2008;4: 557-567.

Dalakas MC, Li M, Fujii M and Jacobowitz DM. Stiff person syndrome: quantification, specificity, and intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 antibodies. *Neurology* 2001; 57: 780-784.

Dalakas MC, Fujii M, Li M, Lutfi B, Kyhos J and McElroy B. High-dose intravenous immune globulin for stiff-person syndrome. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 1870-1876.

Dalakas MC, Fujii M, Li M and McElroy B. The clinical spectrum of anti-GAD65 antibody-positive patients with stiff-person syndrome. *Neurology* 2000; 55: 1531-1535.

Daw K, Ujihara N, Atkinson M and Powers AC. Glutamic acid decarboxylase in stiff-person syndrome and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus exhibit similarities and differences in epitope recognition. *J Immunol* 1996; 156: 818-825.

De Camilli P, Thomas A, Cofiell R, Folli F, Lichte B, Piccolo G, Meinck HM, Austoni M, Fassetta G, Bottazzo G, et al. The synaptic vesicle-associated protein amphiphysin is the 128-kD autoantigen of Stiff-Man syndrome with breast cancer. *J Exp Med* 1993; 178: 2219-2223.

Dinkel K, Meinck HM, Jury KM, Karges W and Richter W. Inhibition of gamma-aminobutyric acid synthesis by glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome. *Ann Neurol* 1998; 44: 194-201

Deisenhammer F, Bartos A, Egg R, Gilhus NE, Giovannoni G, Rauer S and Sellebjerg F; EFNS Task Force. Guidelines on routine cerebrospinal fluid analysis. Report from an EFNS task force. *Eur J Neurol* 2006; 13: 913-922.

Drake AW & Klakamp SL. A rigorous multiple independent binding site model for determining cell-based equilibrium dissociation constants. *J Immunol Methods* 2007; 318: 147-152.

Duddy ME & Baker MR. Stiff person syndrome. Front Neurol Neurosci 2009; 26: 147-165.

Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A and Sallusto F. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 2009; 10: 857-863.

Edwards JC & Cambridge G. B-cell targeting in rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2006; 6: 394-403.

Engelhardt B & Ransohoff RM. The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends Immunol* 2005; 26: 485-495.

Engelhardt B, Martin-Simonet MT, Rott LS, Butcher EC and Michie SA. Adhesion molecule phenotype of T lymphocytes in inflamed CNS. *J Neuroimmunol* 1998; 84: 92-104.

Erdo SL & Wolff JR. gamma-Aminobutyric acid outside the mammalian brain. *J Neurochem* 1990; 54: 363-372.

Erlander MG, Tillakaratne NJ, Feldblum S, Patel N and Tobin AJ. Two genes encode distinct glutamate decarboxylases. *Neuron* 1991; 7: 91-100.

Farina C, Krumbholz M, Giese T, Hartmann G, Aloisi F and Meinl E. Preferential expression and function of Toll-like receptor 3 in human astrocytes. *J Neuroimmunol* 2005; 159: 12-19.

Fenalti G & Rowley MJ. GAD65 as a prototypic autoantigen. J Autoimmun 2008; 31: 228-232.

Fenalti G, Hampe CS, Arafat Y, Law RH, Banga JP, Mackay IR, Whisstock JC, Buckle AM and Rowley MJ. COOH-terminal clustering of autoantibody and T-cell determinants on the structure of GAD65 provide insights into the molecular basis of autoreactivity. *Diabetes* 2008; 57: 1293-1301.

Fenalti G, Law RH, Buckle AM, Langendorf C, Tuck K, Rosado CJ, Faux NG, Mahmood K, Hampe CS, Banga JP, Wilce M, Schmidberger J, Rossjohn J, El-Kabbani O, Pike RN, Smith AI, Mackay IR, Rowley MJ and Whisstock JC. GABA production by glutamic acid decarboxylase is regulated by a dynamic catalytic loop. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2007; 14: 280-286.

Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, McGeachy MJ, Gray D and Anderton SM. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* 2002; 3: 944-950.

Fitch FW & Gajewski TF. *In vitro* assays for mouse lymphocyte function. *Curr Protoc Immunol*: Wiley, New York; 1997: 3.13.1-3.13.4.

Folli F, Solimena M, Cofiell R, Austoni M, Tallini G, Fassetta G, Bates D, Cartlidge N, Bottazzo GF, Piccolo G and De Camilli P. Autoantibodies to a 128-kd synaptic protein in three women with the stiff-man syndrome and breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 1993; 328: 546-551.

Fritz JH & Girardin SE. How Toll-like receptors and Nod-like receptors contribute to innate immunity in mammals. *J Endotoxin Res* 2006; 11: 390-394.

Geis C, Beck M, Jablonka S, Weishaupt A, Toyka KV, Sendtner M and Sommer C. Stiff person syndrome associated anti-amphiphysin antibodies reduce GABA associated [Ca(2+)]i rise in embryonic motoneurons. *Neurobiol Dis* 2009; 36: 191-199.

Goetz CG & Klawans HL. On the mechanism of sudden death in Moersch-Woltman syndrome. *Neurology* 1983; 33: 930-932.

Goodnow CC, Sprent J, Fazekas de St Groth B and Vinuesa CG. Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity. *Nature* 2005; 435: 590-597.

Goverman J. Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2009; 9: 393-407.

Griffiths GM, Berek C, Kaartinen M and Milstein C. Somatic mutation and the maturation of immune response to 2-phenyl oxazolone. *Nature* 1984; 312: 271-275.

Hafler DA, Duby AD, Lee SJ, Benjamin D, Seidman JG and Weiner HL. Oligoclonal T lymphocytes in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* 1988; 167: 1313-1322.

Hao W, Davis C, Hirsch IB, Eng LJ, Daniels T, Walsh D and Lernmark A. Plasmapheresis and immunosuppression in stiff-man syndrome with type 1 diabetes: a 2-year study. *J Neurol* 1999; 246: 731-735.

Han G, Li Y, Wang J, Wang R, Chen G, Song L, Xu R, Yu M, Wu X, Qian J and Shen B. Active tolerance induction and prevention of autoimmune diabetes by immunogene therapy using recombinant adeno-associated virus expressing glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 peptide GAD(500-585). *J Immunol* 2005; 174: 4516-4524

Harling-Berg CJ, Park TJ and Knopf PM. Role of cervical lymphatics in the th2-type hierarchy of CNS immune regulation. *J Neuroimmunol* 1999; 101: 111-127.

Hauser SL. Multiple lessons for multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 2008 Oct 23; 359: 1838-1841.

Henriksson A, Kam-Hansen S, Forsberg P and Grandien M. Cerebrospinal fluid lymphocytes from patients with multiple sclerosis do not increase immunoglobulin or measles antibody production after stimulation with pokeweed mitogen. *J Neuroimmunol* 1986; 11: 15-30.

Hestvik AL, Skorstad G, Price DA, Vartdal F and Holmoy T. Multiple sclerosis: glatiramer acetate induces anti-inflammatory T cells in the cerebrospinal fluid. *Mult Scler* 2008; 14: 749-758.

Hickey WF, Hsu BL and Kimura H. T-lymphocyte entry into the central nervous system. *J Neurosci Res* 1991; 28: 254-60.

Holmøy T, Skorstad G, Røste LS, Scheie D and Alvik K. Stiff person syndrome associated with lower motor neuron disease and infiltration of cytotoxic T cells in the spinal cord. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* 2009; 111: 708-712.

Holmøy T, Harbo H, Vartdal F and Spurkland A. Genetic and molecular approaches to the immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: an update. *Curr Mol Med* 2009; 9: 591-611.

Holmøy T, Fredriksen AB, Thompson KM, Hestvik AL, Bogen B and Vartdal F. Cerebrospinal fluid T cell clones from patients with multiple sclerosis: recognition of idiotopes on monoclonal IgG secreted by autologous cerebrospinal fluid B cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2005 Jun;35(6):1786-94.

Holmøy T, Kvale EØ and Vartdal F. Cerebrospinal fluid CD4+ T cells from a multiple sclerosis patient cross-recognize Epstein-Barr virus and myelin basic protein. *J Neurovirol* 2004; 10: 278-283.

Hu CY, Rodriguez-Pinto D, Du W, Ahuja A, Henegariu O, Wong FS, Shlomchik MJ and Wen L. Treatment with CD20-specific antibody prevents and reverses autoimmune diabetes in mice. *J Clin Invest* 2007; 117: 3857-3867.

Hummel M, Durinovic-Bello I, Bonifacio E, Lampasona V, Endl J, Fessele S, Then Bergh F, Trenkwalder C, Standl E and Ziegler AG. Humoral and cellular immune parameters before and during immunosuppressive therapy of a patient with stiff-man syndrome and insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1998; 65: 204-208.

Hutchinson M, Waters P, McHugh J, Gorman G, O'Riordan S, Connolly S, Hager H, Yu P, Becker CM and Vincent A. Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity, and myoclonus: a novel glycine receptor antibody. Neurology 2008; 71: 1291-1292.

Ishida K, Mitoma H, Song SY, Uchihara T, Inaba A, Eguchi S, Kobayashi T and Mizusawa H. Selective suppression of cerebellar GABAergic transmission by an autoantibody to glutamic acid decarboxylase. *Ann Neurol* 1999; 46: 263-267.

Jacob J, Kelsoe G, Rajewsky K and Weiss U. Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal centres. *Nature* 1991; 354: 389-392.

Jacobsen M, Cepok S, Quak E, Happel M, Gaber R, Ziegler A, Schock S, Oertel WH, Sommer N and Hemmer B. Oligoclonal expansion of memory CD8+ T cells in cerebrospinal fluid from multiple sclerosis patients. *Brain* 2002; 125: 538-550.

Janeway CA Jr & Medzhitov. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 2002; 20: 197-216.

Jarius S, Hoffmann L, Clover L, Vincent A and Voltz R. CSF findings in patients with voltage gated potassium channel antibody associated limbic encephalitis. *J Neurol Sci* 2008; 268: 74-77.

Jaume JC, Parry SL, Madec AM, Sønderstrup G and Baekkeskov S. Suppressive effect of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65-specific autoimmune B lymphocytes on processing of T cell determinants located within the antibody epitope. *J Immunol* 2002; 169: 665-672.

Jensen PE. Antigen unfolding and disulfide reduction in antigen presenting cells. *Semin Immunol* 1995; 7: 347-353.

Kabat EA, Moore DH and Landow H. An electrophoretic study of the protein components in cerebrospinal fluid and their relationship to the serum proteins. *J Clin Invest* 1942; 21: 571-577.

Karcher D, Van Sande M and Lowenthal A. Micro-electrophoresis in agar gel of proteins of the cerebrospinal fluid and central nervous system. *J Neurochem* 1959; 4: 135-40.

Karlsen AE, Hagopian WA, Grubin CE, Dube S, Disteche CM, Adler DA, Bärmeier H, Mathewes S, Grant FJ, Foster D, et al. Cloning and primary structure of a human islet isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase from chromosome 10. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1991; 88: 8337-8341.

Kash SF, Johnson RS, Tecott LH, Noebels JL, Mayfield RD, Hanahan D and Baekkeskov S. Epilepsy in mice deficient in the 65-kDa isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1997; 94: 14060-14065.

Kaufman DL, Clare-Salzler M, Tian J, Forsthuber T, Ting GS, Robinson P, Atkinson MA, Sercarz EE, Tobin AJ and Lehmann PV. Spontaneous loss of T-cell tolerance to glutamic acid decarboxylase in murine insulin-dependent diabetes. *Nature* 1993; 366: 69-72.

Kawai T & Akira S. Pathogen recognition with Toll-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol 2005; 17: 338-344.

Kent SC, Chen Y, Bregoli L, Clemmings SM, Kenyon NS, Ricordi C, Hering BJ and Hafler DA. Expanded T cells from pancreatic lymph nodes of type 1 diabetic subjects recognize an insulin epitope. *Nature* 2005; 435: 224-228.

Kim J, Namchuk M, Bugawan T, Fu Q, Jaffe M, Shi Y, Aanstoot HJ, Turck CW, Erlich H, Lennon V and Baekkeskov S. Higher autoantibody levels and recognition of a linear NH2-terminal epitope in the autoantigen GAD65, distinguish stiff-man syndrome from insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Exp Med* 1994; 180: 595-606.

Kivisäkk P, Imitola J, Rasmussen S, Elyaman W, Zhu B, Ransohoff RM and Khoury SJ. Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann Neurol* 2009; 65: 457-469.

Kivisäkk P, Mahad DJ, Callahan MK, Trebst C, Tucky B, Wei T, Wu L, Baekkevold ES, Lassmann H, Staugaitis SM, Campbell JJ and Ransohoff RM. Human cerebrospinal fluid central memory CD4+ T cells: evidence for trafficking through choroid plexus and meninges via P-selectin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2003; 100: 8389-8394.

Knopf PM, Harling-Berg CJ, Cserr HF, Basu D, Sirulnick EJ, Nolan SC, Park JT, Keir G, Thompson EJ and Hickey WF. Antigen-dependent intrathecal antibody synthesis in the normal rat brain: tissue entry and local retention of antigen-specific B cells. *J Immunol* 1998; 161: 692-701.

Koerner C, Wieland B, Richter W and Meinck HM. Stiff-person syndromes: motor cortex hyperexcitability correlates with anti-GAD autoimmunity. *Neurology* 2004; 62: 1357-1362.

Kronenberg M & Rudensky A. Regulation of immunity by self-reactive T cells. Nature 2005; 435: 598-604.

Kutzelnigg A, Lucchinetti CF, Stadelmann C, Brück W, Rauschka H, Bergmann M, Schmidbauer M, Parisi JE and Lassmann H. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* 2005; 128: 2705-2712.

Lanzavecchia A & Sallusto F. Regulation of T cell immunity by dendritic cells. Cell 2001; 106: 263-266.

Lanzavecchia A. How can cryptic epitopes trigger autoimmunity? J Exp Med 1995; 181: 1945-1948.

Lanzavecchia A. Receptor-mediated antigen uptake and its effect on antigen presentation to class II-restricted T lymphocytes. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1990; 8: 773-793.

Lanzavecchia A. Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. Nature 1985; 314: 537-539.

Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO and Weaver CT. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 linage. *Immunity* 2009; 30: 92-107.

Lehmann PV, Forsthuber T, Miller A and Sercarz EE. Spreading of T-cell autoimmunity to cryptic determinants of an autoantigen. *Nature* 1992; 358: 155-7.

Leigh PN, Rothwell JC, Traub M and Marsden CD. A patient with reflex myoclonus and muscle rigidity: "jerking stiff-man syndrome". *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1980; 43: 1125-1131.

Lernmark A. Glutamic acid decarboxylase--gene to antigen to disease. J Intern Med 1996; 240: 259-277.

Levy LM, Levy-Reis I, Fujii M and Dalakas MC. Brain gamma-aminobutyric acid changes in stiff-person syndrome. *Arch Neurol* 2005; 62: 970-974.

Levy LM, Dalakas MC and Floeter MK. The stiff-person syndrome: an autoimmune disorder affecting neurotransmission of gamma-aminobutyric acid. *Ann Intern Med* 1999; 131: 522-530.

Lohmann T, Londei M, Hawa M and Leslie RD. Humoral and cellular autoimmune responses in stiff person syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2003; 998: 215-222.

Lohmann T, Hawa M, Leslie RD, Lane R, Picard J and Londei M. Immune reactivity to glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 in stiffman syndrome and type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 2000; 356: 31-35.

Lorish TR, Thorsteinsson G and Howard FM Jr. Stiff-man syndrome updated. *Mayo Clin Proc* 1989; 64: 629-636.

Lucchinetti CF, Mandler RN, McGavern D, Bruck W, Gleich G, Ransohoff RM, Trebst C, Weinshenker B, Wingerchuk D, Parisi JE and Lassmann H. A role for humoral mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Devic's neuromyelitis optica. *Brain* 2002; 125: 1450-1461.

Lucchinetti C, Brück W, Parisi J, Scheithauer B, Rodriguez M and Lassmann H. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Ann Neurol* 2000; 47: 707-717.

Lucchinetti CF, Brück W, Rodriguez M and Lassmann H. Distinct patterns of multiple sclerosis pathology indicates heterogeneity on pathogenesis. *Brain Pathol* 1996; 6: 259-274.

Luxton RW, Zeman A, Holzel H, Harvey P, Wilson J, Kocen R, Morgan-Hughes J, Miller DH, Compston A and Thomson EJ. Affinity of antigen-specific IgG distinguishes multiple sclerosis from encephalitis. J Neurol Sci 1995; 132: 11-19.

Mackay F & Schneider P. Cracking the BAFF code. Nat Rev Immunol 2009; 9: 491-502.

MacLennan IC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol 1994; 12: 117-139.

Madden DR. The three-dimensional structure of peptide-MHC complexes. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1995; 13: 587-622.

Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, Reynolds R and Aloisi F. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* 2007; 130: 1089-1104.

Manto MU, Laute MA, Aguera M, Rogemond V, Pandolfo M and Honnorat J. Effects of anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies associated with neurological diseases. *Ann Neurol* 2007; 61: 544-551.

Martin Mdel P, Cravens PD, Winger R, Kieseier BC, Cepok S, Eagar TN, Zamvil SS, Weber MS, Frohman EM, Kleinschmidt-Demasters BK, Montine TJ, Hemmer B, Marra CM and Stüve O. Depletion of B lymphocytes from cerebral perivascular spaces by rituximab. *Arch Neurol* 2009; 66: 1016-1020.

McDonald WI, Compston A, Edan G, Goodkin D, Hartung HP, Lublin FD, McFarland HF, Paty DW, Polman CH, Reingold SC, Sandberg-Wollheim M, Sibley W, Thompson A, van den Noort S, Weinshenker BY and Wolinsky JS. Recommended diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: guidelines from the International Panel on the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* 2001; 50: 121-127.

McFarland HF & Martin R. Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* 2007; 8: 913-919.

McPherson GA. Analysis of radioligand binding experiments. A collection of computer programs for the IBM PC. *J Pharmacol Methods* 1985; 14: 213-228.

Medawar PB. Immunity to homologous grafted skin; the fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. *Br J Exp Pathol* 1948; 29:59-69.

Meinck HM, Ricker K, Hülser PJ, Schmid E, Peiffer J and Solimena M. Stiff man syndrome: clinical and laboratory findings in eight patients. *J Neurol* 1994; 241: 157-166.

Meinl E, Krumbholz M and Hohlfeld R. B lineage cells in the inflammatory central nervous system environment: migration, maintenance, local antibody production, and therapeutic modulation. *Ann Neurol* 2006; 59: 880-892.

Mitsumoto H, Schwartzman MJ, Estes ML, Chou SM, La Franchise EF, De Camilli P and Solimena M. Sudden death and paroxysmal autonomic dysfunction in stiff-man syndrome. *J Neurol* 1991; 238: 91-96.

Moersch FP & Woltman HW. Progressive fluctuating muscular rigidity and spasm ("stiff-man" syndrome); report of a case and some observations in 13 other cases. *Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin* 1956; 25: 421-427.

Molberg O, Mcadam SN, Körner R, Quarsten H, Kristiansen C, Madsen L, Fugger L, Scott H, Norén O, Roepstorff P, Lundin KE, Sjöström H and Sollid LM. Tissue transglutaminase selectively modifies gliadin peptides that are recognized by gut-derived T cells in celiac disease. *Nat Med* 1998; 4: 713-717.

Monson NL, Cravens PD, Frohman EM, Hawker K and Racke MK. Effect of rituximab on the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid B cells in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2005; 62: 258-264.

Mosmann TR & Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1989; 7: 145-173.

Murphy K, Travers P and Walport M. Janeway's immunobiol 7th. 2008 New York, Garland Publishing.

Nepom GT, Lippolis JD, White FM, Masewicz S, Marto JA, Herman A, Luckey CJ, Falk B, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Engelhard VH and Nepom BS. Identification and modulation of a naturally processed T cell epitope from the diabetes-associated autoantigen human glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 (hGAD65). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001; 98: 1763-1768.

Nemni R, Caniatti LM, Gironi M, Bazzigaluppi E and De Grandis D. Stiff person syndrome does not always occur with maternal passive transfer of GAD65 antibodies. *Neurology* 2004; 62: 2101-2102.

Nieuwenhuis P & Opstelten D. Functional anatomy of germinal centers. Am J Anat 1984; 170: 421-435.

Obermeier B, Mentele R, Malotka J, Kellermann J, Kümpfel T, Wekerle H, Lottspeich F, Hohlfeld R and Dornmair K. Matching of oligoclonal immunoglobulin transcriptomes and proteomes of cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* 2008; 14: 688-693.

Oksenberg JR, Stuart S, Begovich AB, Bell RB, Erlich HA, Steinman L and Bernard CC. Limited heterogeneity of rearranged T-cell receptor V alpha transcripts in brains of multiple sclerosis patients. *Nature* 1990; 345: 344-346.

Olsen I, Tollefsen S, Aagaard C, Reitan LJ, Bannantine JP, Andersen P, Sollid LM and Lundin KE. Isolation of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis reactive CD4 T cells from intestinal biopsies of Crohn's disease patients. *PLoS One* 2009; 4: e5641.

O'Sullivan EP, Behan LA, King TF, Hardiman O and Smith D. A case report of stiff-person syndrome, type 1 diabetes, celiac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* 2009; 111: 378-386.

Owens GP, Bennett JL, Gilden DH and Burgoon MP. The B cell response in multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Res* 2006; 28: 236-244.

Owens GP, Ritchie AM, Burgoon MP, Williamson RA, Corboy JR and Gilden DH. Single-cell repertoire analysis demonstrates that clonal expansion is a prominent feature of the B cell response in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid. *J Immunol* 2003; 171: 2725-2733.

Patel SD, Cope AP, Congia M, Chen TT, Kim E, Fugger L, Wherrett D and Sonderstrup-McDevitt G. Identification of immunodominant T cell epitopes of human glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 by using HLA-DR(alpha1\*0101.beta1\*0401) transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997; 94: 8082-8087.

Perani D, Garibotto V, Moresco RM, Ortelli P, Corbo M, Fazio F and Folli F. PET evidence of central GABAergic changes in stiff-person syndrome. *Mov Disord* 2007; 22: 1030-1033.

Petersen JS, Dyrberg T, Karlsen AE, Mølvig J, Michelsen B, Nerup J and Mandrup-Poulsen T. Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65) autoantibodies in prediction of beta-cell function and remission in recent-onset IDDM after cyclosporin treatment. The Canadian-European Randomized Control Trial Group. *Diabetes* 1994; 43: 1291-1296.

Plotz PH. The autoantibody repertoire: searching for order. Nat Rev Immunol 2003; 3: 73-78.

Porter KG, Sinnamon DG and Gillies RR. Cryptococcus neoformans-specific oligoclonal immunoglobulins in cerebrospinal fluid in cryptococcal meningitis. *Lancet* 1977; 1: 1262.

Prineas JW, Kwon EE, Cho ES and Sharer LR. Continual breakdown and regeneration of myelin in progressive multiple sclerosis plaques. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1984; 436: 11-32.

Prineas JW. Multiple sclerosis: presence of lymphatic capillaries and lymphoid tissue in the brain and spinal cord. *Science* 1979; 203: 1123-1125.

Prineas JW & Wright RG. Macrophages, lymphocytes, and plasma cells in the perivascular compartment in chronic multiple sclerosis. *Lab Invest* 1978; 38: 409-421.

Puglatti M, Sotgiu S and Rosati G. The worldwide prevalence of multiple sclerosis. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2002; 104: 182-191.

Pugliese A, Solimena M, Awdeh ZL, Alper CA, Bugawan T, Erlich HA, De Camilli P and Eisenbarth GS. Association of HLA-DQB1\*0201 with stiff-man syndrome. *J Cin Endocrinol Metab* 1993; 77: 1550-1553.

Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Olek M, Da RR, Richardson J, Antel JP, Talbot P, Cashman NR, Tourtellotte WW, Wekerle H and Van Den Noort S. Intrathecal B-cell clonal expansion, an early sign of humoral immunity, in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Lab Invest* 2003; 83: 1081-1088.

Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Talbot P, Poole R and Antel J. Clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation of V(H) genes of B cells from cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* 1998; 102: 1045-1050.

Quaratino S, Ruf J, Osman M, Guo J, McLachlan S, Rapoport B and Londei M. Human autoantibodies modulate the T cell epitope repertoire but fail to unmask a pathogenic cryptic epitope. *J Immunol* 2005; 174: 557-563.

Quinn A, McInerney MF and Sercarz EE. MHC class I-restricted determinants on the glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 molecule induce spontaneous CTL activity. *J Immunol* 2001; 167: 1748-1757.

Rajewsky K. Clonal selection and learning in the antibody system. Nature 1996; 381: 751-758.

Raju R, Rakocevic G, Chen Z, Hoehn G, Semino-Mora C, Shi W, Olsen R and Dalakas MC. Autoimmunity to GABAA-receptor-associated protein in stiff-person syndrome. *Brain* 2006; 129:3270-3276.

Raju R, Foote J, Banga JP, Hall TR, Padoa CJ, Dalakas MC, Ortqvist E and Hampe CS. Analysis of GAD65 autoantibodies in Stiff-Person syndrome patients. *J Immunol* 2005; 175: 7755-7762.

Ráki M, Fallang LE, Brottveit M, Bergseng E, Quarsten H, Lundin KE and Sollid LM. Tetramer visualization of gut-homing gluten-specific T cells in the peripheral blood of celiac disease patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007; 104: 2831-2836.

Rakocevic G, Raju R and Dalakas MC. Anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with stiff-person syndrome: correlation with clinical severity. *Arch Neurol* 2004; 61: 902-904.

Ransohoff RM, Kivisakk P and Kidd G. Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003; 3: 569-381.

Ravetch JV & Bolland S. IgG Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 2001; 19: 275-290.

Reboldi A, Coisne C, Baumjohann D, Benvenuto F, Bottinelli D, Lira S, Uccelli A, Lanzavecchia A, Engelhardt B and Sallusto F. C-C chemokine receptor 6-regulated entry of TH-17 cells into the CNS through the choroid plexus is required for the initiation of EAE. *Nat Immunol* 2009; 10: 514-523.

Reiber H, Ungefehr S and Jacobi C. The intrathecal, polyspecific and oligoclonal immune response in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 1998; 4: 111-117.

Reijonen H, Daniels TL, Lernmark A and Nepom GT. GAD65-specific autoantibodies enhance the presentation of an immunodominant T-cell epitope from GAD65. *Diabetes* 2000; 49: 1621-1626.

Ritchie AM, Gilden DH, Williamson RA, Burgoon MP, Yu X, Helm K, Corboy JR and Owens GP. Comparative analysis of the CD19+ and CD138+ cell antibody repertoires in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* 2004; 173: 649-656.

Robinson-Agramonte M, Reiber H, Cabrera-Gomez JA and Galvizu R. Intrathecal polyspecific immune response to neurotropic viruses in multiple sclerosis: a comparative report from Cuban patients. *Acta Neurol Scand* 2007; 115: 312-318.

Rudensky AYu, Preston-Hurlburt P, Hong SC, Barlow A and Janeway CA Jr. Sequence analysis of peptides bound to MHC class II molecules. *Nature* 1991; 353: 622-627.

Ruprecht CR & Lanzavecchia A. Toll-like receptor stimulation as a third signal required for activation of human naïve B cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2006; 36: 810-816.

Saidha S, Elamin M, Mullins G, Chaila E, Tormey VJ and Hennessy MJ. Treatment of progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonic jerks with rituximab: a case report. *Eur J Neurol* 2008; 15: 33

Saiz A, Mínguez A, Graus F, Marín C, Tolosa E and Cruz-Sánchez F. Stiff-man syndrome with vacuolar degeneration of anterior horn motor neurons. *J Neurol* 1999; 246: 858-860.

Saiz A, Arpa J, Sagasta A, Casamitjana R, Zarranz JJ, Tolosa E and Graus F. Autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase in three patients with cerebellar ataxia, late-onset insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, and polyendocrine autoimmunity. *Neurology* 1997; 49: 1026-30.

Sallusto F & Lanzavecchia A. Exploring pathways for memory T cell generation. *J Clin Invest* 2001; 108: 805-806.

Salmi AA, Hyypiä T, Ilonen J, Reunanen M and Remes M. Production of viral antibodies in vitro by CSF cells from mumps meningitis and multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neurol Sci* 1989; 90: 315-324.

Sandberg-Wollheim M, Vandvik B, Nadj C and Norrby E. The intrathecal immune response in the early stage of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1987; 81: 45-53.

Sercarz EE, Lehmann PV, Ametani A, Benichou G, Miller A and Moudgil K. Dominance and crypticity of T cell antigenic determinants. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1993; 11: 729-766.

Schloot NC, Batstra MC, Duinkerken G, De Vries RR, Dyrberg T, Chaudhuri A, Behan PO and Roep BO. GAD65-Reactive T cells in a non-diabetic stiff-man syndrome patient. *J Autoimmun* 1999; 12: 289-296.

Sfikakis PP, Boletis JN and Tsokos GC. Rituximab anti-B-cell therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus: pointing to the future. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2005; 17: 550-557.

Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E and Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Path* 2004; 14: 164-174.

Shimoda S, Miyakawa H, Nakamura M, Ishibashi H, Kikuchi K, Kita H, Niiro H, Arinobu Y, Ono N, Mackay IR, Gershwin ME and Akashi K. CD4 T-cell autoreactivity to the mitochondrial autoantigen PDC-E2 in AMA-negative primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Autoimmun* 2008; 31: 110-115.

Shlomchik MJ. Sites and stages of autoreactive B cell activation and regulation. Immunity 2008; 28: 18-28.

Siekevitz M, Kocks C, Rajewsky Kand and Dildrop R. Analysis of somatic mutation and class switching in naive and memory B cells generating adoptive primary and secondary responses. *Cell* 1987; 48: 757-770.

Simitsek PD, Campbell DG, Lanzavecchia A, Fairweather N and Watts C. Modulation of antigen processing by bound antibodies can boost or suppress class II major histocompatibility complex presentation of different T cell determinants. *J Exp Med* 1995; 181: 1957-1963.

Sindic CJ, Monteyne P and Laterre EC. The intrathecal synthesis of virus-specific oligoclonal IgG in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* 1994; 54:75-80.

Solimena M & De Camilli P. Autoimmunity to glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) in Stiff-Man syndrome and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Trends Neurosci* 1991; 14: 452-457.

Solimena M, Folli F, Aparisi R, Pozza G and De Camilli P. Autoantibodies to GABA-ergic neurons and pancreatic beta cells in stiff-man syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 1990; 322: 1555-1560.

Solimena M, Folli F, Denis-Donini S, Comi GC, Pozza G, De Camilli P and Vicari AM. Autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase in a patient with stiff-man syndrome, epilepsy, and type I diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 1988; 318: 1012-1020.

Sommer C, Weishaupt A, Brinkhoff J, Biko L, Wessig C, Gold R and Toyka KV. Paraneoplastic stiff-person syndrome: passive transfer to rats by means of IgG antibodies to amphiphysin. *Lancet* 2005; 365: 1406-1411.

Starr TK, Jameson SC and Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of T cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2003: 21: 139-176.

Steinman L. Multiple sclerosis: a two-stage disease. Nat Immunol 2001; 2: 762-764.

Stemberger C, Huster KM, Koffler M, Anderl F, Schiemann M, Wagner H and Busch DH. A single naive CD8+ T cell precursor can develop into diverse effector and memory subsets. *Immunity* 2007; 27: 985-997.

Stevenson PG, Austyn JM and Hawke S. Uncoupling of virus-induced inflammation and anti-viral immunity in the brain. *J Gen Virol* 2002; 83: 1735-43.

Stüve O, Cepok S, Elias B, Saleh A, Hartung HP, Hemmer B and Kieseier BC. Clinical stabilization and effective B-lymphocyte depletion in the cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood of a patient with fulminant relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2005; 62: 1620-1623.

Thompson PD. The stiff-man syndrome and related disorders. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2001; 8: 147-153.

Thorsby E. A short history of HLA. Tissue Antigens 2009; 74: 101-116.

Tisch R, Yang XD, Singer SM, Liblau RS, Fugger L and McDevitt HO. Immune response to glutamic acid decarboxylase correlates with insulitis in non-obese diabetic mice. *Nature* 1993; 366: 72-75.

Toyka KV, Drachman DB, Griffin DE, Pestronk A, Winkelstein JA, Fishbeck KH and Kao I. Myasthenia gravis. Study of humoral immune mechanisms by passive transfer to mice. *N Engl J Med* 1977; 296: 125-131

Toyka KV, Brachman DB, Pestronk A and Kao I. Myasthenia gravis: passive transfer from man to mouse. Science 1975; 190: 397-399.

Traggiai E, Becker S, Subbarao K, Kolesnikova L, Uematsu Y, Gismondo MR, Murphy BR, Rappuoli R and Lanzavecchia A. An efficient method to make human monoclonal antibodies from memory B cells: potent neutralization of SARS coronavirus. *Nat Med* 2004; 10: 871-875.

Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK and Spits H. Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T<sub>H</sub>-17, T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>2 cells. *Nat Immunol* 2009: 10: 864-871.

Vandvik B, Vartdal F and Norrby E. Herpes simplex virus encephalitis: intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal virus-specific IgG, IgA and IgM antibodies. *J Neurol* 1982; 228: 25-38.

Vandvik B & Norrby E. Oligoclonal IgG antibody response in the central nervous system to different measles virus antigens in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1973; 70: 1060-1063.

Vartdal F, Johansen BH, Friede T, Thorpe CJ, Stevanović S, Eriksen JE, Sletten K, Thorsby E, Rammensee HG and Sollid LM. The peptide binding motif of the disease associated HLA-DQ (alpha 1\* 0501, beta 1\* 0201) molecule. *Eur J Immunol* 1996; 26: 2764-2772.

Vartdal F & Vandvik B. Multiple sclerosis: subclasses of intrathecally synthesized IgG and measles and varicella zoster virus IgG antibodies. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1983; 54: 641-647.

Vartdal F, Vandvik B, Michaelsen TE, Loe K and Norrby E. Neurosyphilis: intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal antibodies to Treponema pallidum. *Ann Neurol* 1982; 11: 35-40.

Vartdal F, Vandvik B and Norrby E. Intrathecal synthesis of virus-specific oligoclonal IgG, IgA and IgM antibodies in a case of varicella-zoster meningoencephalitis. *J Neurol Sci* 1982; 57: 121-132.

Vartdal F, Vandvik B and Norrby E. Viral and bacterial antibody responses in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* 1980; 8: 248-255.

Vasconcelos OM & Dalakas MC. Stiff-person Syndrome. Curr Treat Options Neurol 2003; 5: 79-90.

Vincent A, Buckley C, Schott JM, Baker I, Dewar BK, Detert N, Clover L, Parkinson A, Bien CG, Omer S, Lang B, Rossor MN and Palace J. Potassium channel antibody-associated encephalopathy: a potentially immunotherapy-responsive form of limbic encephalitis. *Brain* 2004; 127: 701-712.

Vianello M, Keir G, Giometto B, Betterle C, Tavolato B and Thompson EJ. Antigenic differences between neurological and diabetic patients with anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies. *Eur J Neurol* 2005; 12: 294-299.

Vianello M, Bisson G, Dal Maschio M, Vassanelli S, Girardi S, Mucignat C, Fountzoulas K and Giometto B. Increased spontaneous activity of a network of hippocampal neurons in culture caused by suppression of inhibitory potentials mediated by anti-gad antibodies. Autoimmunity 2008; 41: 66-73.

Vicari AM, Folli F, Pozza G, Comi GC, Comola M, Canal N, Besana C, Borri A, Tresoldi M, Solimena M and De Camilli P. Plasmapheresis in the treatment of stiff-man syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 1989; 320: 1499.

Vilming ST, Kloster R and Sandvik L. The importance of sex, age, needle size, height and body mass index in post-lumbar puncture headache. *Cephalalgia* 2001; 21: 738-743.

Wardemann H, Yurasov S, Schaefer A, Young JW, Meffre E and Nussenzweig MC. Predominant autoantibody production by early human B cell precursors. *Science* 2003; 301: 1374-1377.

Warich-Kirches M, Von Bossanyi P, Treuheit T, Kirches E, Dietzmann K, Feistner H and Wittig H. Stiffman syndrome: possible autoimmune etiology targeted against GABA-ergic cells. *Clin Neuropathol* 1997; 16: 214-219.

Watts C. The exogenous pathway for antigen presentation on major histocompatibility complex class II and CD1 molecules. *Nat Immunol* 2004; 5: 685-692.

Watts C. Capture and processing of exogenous antigens for presentation on MHC molecules. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1997; 15: 821-850.

Watts C & Lanzavecchia A. Suppressive effect of antibody on processing of T cell epitopes. *J Exp Med* 1993; 178: 1459-1463.

Wei G, Wei L, Zhu J, Zang C, Hu-Li J, Yao Z, Cui K, Kanno Y, Roh TY, Watford WT, Schones DE, Peng W, Sun HW, Paul WE, O'Shea JJ and Zhao K. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* 2009; 30: 155-167.

Weigert MG, Cesari IM, Yonkovich SJ and Cohn M. Variability in the lambda light chain sequences of mouse antibody. *Nature* 1970; 228: 1045-1047.

Wekerle H, Sun D, Oropeza-Wekerle RL and Meyermann R. Immune reactivity in the nervous system: modulation of T-lymphocyte activation by glial cells. *J Exp Biol* 1987; 132: 43-57.

Whiteley AM, Swash M and Urich H. Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity. Brain 1976; 99: 27-42.

Williams MA and Bevan MJ. Effector and memory CTL differentiation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2007; 25: 171-192.

Wucherpfennig KW, Newcombe J, Li H, Keddy C, Cuzner ML and Hafler DA. T cell receptor V alpha-V beta repertoire and cytokine gene expression in active multiple sclerosis lesions. *J Exp Med* 1992; 175: 993-1002.

Zeine R & Owens T. Direct demonstration of the infiltration of murine central nervous system by Pgp-1/CD44high CD45RB(low) CD4+ T cells that induce experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* 1992; 40: 57-69.

Zerrahn J, Held W and Raulet DH. The MHC reactivity of the T cell repertoire prior to positive and negative selection. *Cell* 1997; 88: 627-636.

Zhu J & Paul WE. CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults. Blood 2008; 112: 1557-1569.

.